



Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2009-2010



Table of Contents

What is breast cancer?	1
Who gets breast cancer?	1
How many cases and deaths are estimated to occur in 2009?	2
How many women alive today have ever had breast cancer?	2
How has the occurrence of breast cancer changed over time?	2
What factors influence breast cancer survival?	8
What are the known risk factors for breast cancer?	9
Can breast cancer be prevented?	.13
What are the signs and symptoms of breast cancer?	.15
How can breast cancer be detected early?	. 15
How is breast cancer treated?	. 19
What research is currently being done on breast cancer?	.23
What resources are available in your community?	.25
What is the American Cancer Society doing about breast cancer?	.26
Sources of statistics	29
Factors that influence cancer rates	.30
References	.31

Acknowledgments

The production of this report would not have been possible without the efforts of:

Priti Bandi, MS; Louise Brinton, PhD; Sheila Buchert; Vilma Cokkinides, PhD; Rebecca Cowens-Alavarado, MPH; Ronit Elk, PhD; Ted Gansler, MD; Susan Gapstur, PhD; Lisa Harris; Joan Kramer, MD; LaMar McGinnis, MD; Brenda McNeal; Taylor Murray; Lisa Newman, MD; Cheri Richards, MS; Carolyn Runowicz, MD; Debbie Saslow, PhD; Mona Shah, MPH; Robert Smith, PhD; Kristen Sullivan, MS, MPH; Michael Thun, MD; Dana Wagner; Elizabeth Ward, PhD; Jiaquan Xu, PhD.

Breast Cancer Facts & Figures is a publication of the American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia. **For more information, contact:** Carol DeSantis, MPH Melissa M. Center, MPH Rebecca Siegel, MPH Ahmedin Jemal, PhD Department of Surveillance and Health Policy Research

This publication attempts to summarize current scientific information about cancer. Except when specified, it does not represent the official policy of the American Cancer Society.

Suggested citation: American Cancer Society. Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2009-2010. Atlanta: American Cancer Society, Inc.



National Home Office: American Cancer Society, Inc., 250 Williams Street, NW, Atlanta, GA 30303-1002, (404) 320-3333

©2009, American Cancer Society, Inc. All rights reserved, including the right to reproduce this publication or portions thereof in any form.

For written permission, address the Legal Department of the American Cancer Society, 250 Williams Street, NW, Atlanta, GA 30303-1002.

What is breast cancer?

Cancer is a group of diseases that cause cells in the body to change and grow out of control. Most types of cancer cells eventually form a lump or mass called a tumor, and are named after the part of the body where the tumor originates.

Breast cancer begins in breast tissue, which is made up of glands for milk production, called lobules, and the ducts that connect lobules to the nipple. The remainder of the breast is made up of fatty, connective, and lymphatic tissue.

- Most masses are benign; that is, they are not cancerous, do not grow uncontrollably or spread, and are not life-threatening.
- Some breast cancers are called in situ because they are confined within the ducts (ductal carcinoma in situ) or lobules (lobular carcinoma in situ) of the breast. Nearly all cancers at this stage can be cured. Many oncologists believe that lobular carcinoma in situ (also known as lobular neoplasia) is not a true cancer, but an indicator of increased risk for developing invasive cancer in either breast.
- Most cancerous breast tumors are invasive, or infiltrating. These cancers start in the lobules or ducts of the breast but have broken through the duct or glandular walls to invade the surrounding tissue of the breast.

The seriousness of invasive breast cancer is strongly influenced by the stage of the disease; that is, the extent or spread of the cancer when it is first diagnosed. There are two main staging systems for cancer. The American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) classification of tumors uses information on tumor size and how far it has spread within the breast and nearby organs (T), lymph node involvement (N), and the presence or absence of distant metastases (spread to distant organs) (M).¹ Once the T, N, and M are determined, a stage of I, II, III, or IV is assigned, with stage I being an early stage and stage IV being the most advanced. The AJCC staging system is commonly used in clinical settings.

A simpler system used for staging of cancers is known as the SEER Summary Stage system and is more commonly used in reporting to cancer registries and for public health research and planning.² According to this system:

- Local-stage tumors are cancers confined to the breast.
- Regional-stage tumors have spread to surrounding tissue or nearby lymph nodes.
- Distant-stage cancers have metastasized (spread) to distant organs.

Who gets breast cancer?

Sex

- Excluding cancers of the skin, breast cancer is the most common cancer among women, accounting for nearly 1 in 4 cancers diagnosed in US women.
- Men are generally at low risk for developing breast cancer; however, they should report any change in their breasts to a physician.

Age

- Breast cancer incidence and death rates generally increase with age (Figure 1, page 2). During 2002-2006, 95% of new cases and 97% of breast cancer deaths occurred in women aged 40 and older.
- During 2002-2006, women aged 20-24 had the lowest incidence rate, 1.4 cases per 100,000 women; women aged 75-79 had the highest incidence rate, 441.9 cases per 100,000.³ The decrease in incidence rates that occurs in women ages 80 and older may reflect lower rates of screening, the detection of cancers by mammography before age 80, and/or incomplete detection.
- During 2002-2006, the median age at the time of breast cancer diagnosis was 61 years.³ This means that 50% of women who developed breast cancer were age 61 or younger at the time of diagnosis.

Race/Ethnicity

- White women have a higher incidence of breast cancer than African American women beginning at age 45. In contrast, African American women have a higher incidence rate before age 45 and are more likely to die from breast cancer at every age (Figure 1, page 2).
- Table 1 (page 3) shows breast cancer incidence and death rates per 100,000 women for white and African American women by state. Among white women, breast cancer incidence rates range from 111.5 in



Figure 1. Female Breast Cancer – Incidence and Mortality Rates by Age and Race, US, 2002-2006

Data sources: Incidence – North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2009. Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009.

Utah to 139.1 in Hawaii.⁴ Breast cancer incidence rates among African American women range from 60.9 in New Mexico to 127.3 in Kentucky.⁴ Incidence rates reflect how completely the population is screened, as well as disease occurrence.

- Despite higher incidence rates, breast cancer death rates are lower among white women than among African American women. Breast cancer death rates among white women range from 21.7 in Hawaii to 27.3 in New Jersey. In contrast, breast cancer death rates among African American women range from 20.9 in Rhode Island to 40.0 in Louisiana.
- Incidence and death rates for breast cancer are lower among women of other racial and ethnic groups than among white and African American women (Figure 2, page 4).

How many cases and deaths are estimated to occur in 2009?

• In 2009, an estimated 192,370 new cases of invasive breast cancer will be diagnosed among women, as well as an estimated 62,280 additional cases of in situ breast cancer (Table 2, page 4).

- In 2009, approximately 40,170 women are expected to die from breast cancer (Table 2, page 4). Only lung cancer accounts for more cancer deaths in women.
- In 2009, about 1,910 cases of breast cancer are expected to occur among men, accounting for about 1% of all breast cancers. In addition, approximately 440 men will die from breast cancer.

How many women alive today have ever had breast cancer?

The National Cancer Institute estimates that approximately 2.5 million women with a history of breast cancer were alive in January 2006.³ Most of these individuals were cancer-free, while others still had evidence of cancer and may have been undergoing treatment.

How has the occurrence of breast cancer changed over time?

Incidence trends – women

Invasive breast cancer

Incidence rates of invasive female breast cancer for all races combined show five distinct phases since 1975, when population-based surveillance of cancer began:

- Between 1975 and 1980, incidence was essentially constant.
- Between 1980 and 1987, incidence increased by 4.0% per year.
- Between 1987 and 1994, incidence was essentially constant.
- Between 1994 and 1999, incidence rates increased by 1.6% per year.
- Between 1999 and 2006, incidence rates decreased by 2.0% per year.³

Much of the long-term underlying increase in incidence may be attributed to changes in reproductive patterns, such as delayed childbearing and having fewer children, which are recognized risk factors for breast cancer. The rapid increase between 1980 and 1987 is due largely to greater use of mammography screening and increased detection of breast cancers too small to be felt. Detecting these tumors earlier has the effect of inflating the incidence rate because tumors are being detected 1 to 3 years before they would have been diagnosed if they continued to grow until symptoms developed. During the uptake of mammography, from 1980 to 1987, incidence rates of smaller tumors (≤ 2.0 cm) more than doubled, while rates of larger tumors (3.0 cm or more) decreased 27%.⁵

The slight increase in overall breast cancer incidence during the later half of the 1990s may reflect increases in the prevalence of mammography screening, rising rates of obesity, and menopausal hormone use. The recent decline in breast cancer incidence is likely due to

	White		African A	American		W	hite	African American	
State	Incidence	Mortality	Incidence	Mortality	State	Incidence	Mortality	Incidence	Mortality
Alabama ⁺	114.9	23.2	109.3	31.5	Montana	118.8	23.0	§	+
Alaska	128.9	22.0	83.4	+	Nebraska	127.3	22.7	108.9	30.8
Arizona	§	22.0	§	30.2	Nevada	115.1	24.9	99.9	27.0
Arkansas	113.9	22.8	103.1	34.9	New Hampshire	131.1	23.4	75.3	‡
California	128.0	23.9	118.2	33.1	New Jersey	132.6	27.3	108.8	33.5
Colorado	123.7	22.6	93.6	21.4	New Mexico	115.6	23.4	60.9	23.9
Connecticut	137.5	24.3	113.9	26.7	New York	129.5	24.7	102.4	28.3
Delaware	123.8	23.5	123.3	27.9	North Carolina	121.0	23.1	117.3	33.5
District of Columbia	a §	23.1	§	32.4	North Dakota	121.5	22.9	§	‡
Florida	115.9	21.8	99.5	30.0	Ohio	§	26.4	§	35.0
Georgia	120.7	22.5	114.6	30.9	Oklahoma	127.6	25.0	125.7	34.4
Hawaii	139.1	21.7	71.1	+	Oregon	130.5	24.2	101.2	22.3
Idaho	118.7	22.5	§	+	Pennsylvania	124.1	25.9	122.5	34.2
Illinois	124.1	24.2	119.6	37.6	Rhode Island	129.6	23.5	94.2	20.9
Indiana	115.1	24.2	110.5	34.7	South Carolina	121.2	22.8	110.6	31.5
Iowa	124.3	22.8	114.6	32.8	South Dakota	119.3	23.0	§	‡
Kansas	125.2	24.2	125.7	36.5	Tennessee	§	24.1	§	37.3
Kentucky	118.8	24.4	127.3	33.6	Texas ⁺	114.6	22.5	117.4	35.1
Louisiana ⁺	119.0	24.6	122.4	40.0	Utah	111.5	24.0	86.1	+
Maine	128.0	23.4	§	‡	Vermont	§	23.1	§	+
Maryland	§	25.2	§	32.5	Virginia	121.4	24.4	118.7	35.1
Massachusetts	134.6	24.4	103.7	28.2	Washington	134.7	23.9	119.8	26.2
Michigan	124.3	23.8	121.0	34.6	West Virginia	115.3	24.2	99.7	33.9
Minnesota	126.4	22.3	98.2	28.3	Wisconsin	§	23.3	§	26.1
Mississippi	§	22.4	§	35.8	Wyoming	118.2	22.9	§	+
Missouri	122.2	25 3	121 1	36.8					

Table 1. Female Breast Cancer Incidence and Mortality Rates* by Race and State, 2002-2006

*All rates are per 100,000 and age-adjusted to 2000 US standard population.

+ Case ascertainment not complete for all years. + Fewer than 16 deaths; statistic could not be calculated. § Statistic could not be calculated for one of the following reasons: state did not submit data to NAACCR, data failed to meet NAACCR quality standards, or 16 or fewer cases were reported.

Data sources: Incidence – *Cancer in North America, 2002-2006. Volume One: Combined Incidence*, NAACCR, 2009. Data are collected by cancer registries participating in the National Cancer Institute's SEER Program and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Program of Cancer Registries. Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009.



Figure 2. Female Breast Cancer Incidence and Mortality Rates* by Race and Ethnicity, US, 2002-2006

*Rates are age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. †Persons of Hispanic origin may be any race.

Data sources: Incidence – North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, 2009. Incidence data for American Indian/Alaska Natives only includes individuals from Contract Health Service Delivery Areas (CHSDA). Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009. For Hispanics, information is included for all states except Minnesota, New Hampshire, North Dakota, and the District of Columbia.

American Cancer Society, Surveillance Research, 2009

decreased use of menopausal hormones following the publication of the results of the Women's Health Initiative randomized trial in 2002, as well as a decrease in mammography screening (thus, detecting fewer cancers earlier).⁶⁻¹⁰ National studies on the prevalence of mammography suggest that since 2000, the percentage of women aged 40 and older who reported having a mammogram within the past 2 years has either decreased slightly or stabilized.^{8,11,12} The decrease in breast cancer incidence rates due to the lower prevalence of mammography use gives the appearance of a decline in the rate of disease, but in fact reflects underdiagnosis or delayed diagnosis and not a true decrease in disease occurrence.

A sharp decrease in breast cancer incidence rates in the US occurred between 2002 and 2003, particularly among women aged 50-69 years in whom menopausal hormone use is most common. This decrease is likely a result of the rapid drop in hormone use that began in 2002. Similar reversals in breast cancer trends have been observed internationally as well.¹³⁻¹⁵ However, breast cancer incidence rates have remained relatively stable since 2003 (Figure 3a). **Age:** During the early 1980s, incidence rates of invasive breast cancer increased among both women aged 50 and older and those younger than 50 (5.3% per year and 2.8% per year, respectively) (Figure 3a).³ Among women aged 50 and older, incidence rates remained constant from 1987-1993, increased at a slow rate during 1993-1999 (1.9% per year), and have since been declining (2.5% per year). Among women younger than age 50, incidence rates have remained stable since 1986.

Race/Ethnicity: Figure 4a (page 6) presents trends in invasive female breast cancer incidence rates by race and ethnicity. Incidence data are available for African American and white women since the early 1970s. Among white women, breast cancer incidence rates increased rapidly through 1987 (largely due to the introduction of mammography screening), stabilized from 1987-1994, and then continued to increase at a slower rate until 1999. During 1999-2006, breast cancer incidence rates among white women declined at an average rate of 2.2% per year. The recent decline is likely due to lower rates of mammography screening as well as decreased use of menopausal hormones.7-9 Incidence rates also increased for African American women until 1992; however, they have since remained relatively stable. The lack of a decline in incidence among African American women may be due to the lack of a significant decrease in mammography screening rates, as well as historically lower rates of menopausal hormone use.^{8, 9, 16}

Incidence data are available for women of other races and ethnicities only since 1992. During 1997-2006, incidence rates decreased 0.8% per year among Asian Americans/

Table 2. Estimated New Female Breast Cancer Cases and Deaths by Age, US, 2009*

Age	In Situ Cases	Invasive Cases	Deaths
Younger than 45	6,460	18,640	2,820
45 and older	55,820	173,730	37,350
Younger than 55	24,450	62,520	8,890
55 and older	37,830	129,850	31,280
Younger than 65	40,940	120,540	17,200
65 and older	21,340	71,830	22,970
All ages	62,280	192,370	40,170

*Rounded to the nearest 10.

Data source: Estimated cases are based on 1995-2005 incidence rates from 41 states as reported by NAACCR, representing about 85% of the US population. Estimated deaths are based on data from US Mortality Data, 1969-2006, National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009.

American Cancer Society, Surveillance Research, 2009

Pacific Islanders and did not change significantly among Hispanics/Latinas or American Indian/Alaska Natives.³

Tumor size: Figure 5a (page 7) presents incidence trends by race and tumor size for the most recent time period. From 1988 to 2000, the incidence rate of smaller tumors (≤ 2.0 cm) among women of all races combined increased by 2.0% per year. Since 2000, the incidence rate has declined by 3.3% per year. In contrast, the incidence rate of larger tumors (>5.0 cm) has increased since 1992 by 2.0% per year. The increase in prevalence of some underlying risk factors such as postmenopausal obesity, menopausal hormone use, or both may have contributed to this pattern. Incidence rates of breast cancer by tumor size differed between white and African American women: African American women were less likely to be diagnosed with smaller tumors (≤ 2.0 cm) and more likely to be diagnosed with larger tumors (2.1-5.0 and > 5.0 cm) than white women.

Stage: Figure 5b (page 7) presents incidence trends by race and stage at diagnosis. Among women of all races combined, incidence rates of localized breast cancer increased through most of the 1980s and 1990s, but began to decline by 2.3% per year in 1999. The incidence of regional-stage disease increased during 1994-2001 and has since decreased on average by 2.8% per year. Incidence rates of distant-stage disease have remained stable.

African American women have higher rates of distantstage breast cancer compared to white women. Rates of distant-stage breast cancer among African American women have increased by 0.5% per year since 1975, whereas rates among white women have remained stable.

In situ breast cancer

Incidence rates of in situ breast cancer increased rapidly during the 1980s and 1990s, largely because of increased diagnosis as a result of mammography screening (Figure 3b). The increase was observed in all age groups, although it was greatest in women aged 50 and older.¹⁷ Since 1999, incidence rates of in situ breast cancer have decreased among women aged 50 and older, but continued to increase in younger women.³ The decrease in incidence among women aged 50 and older may reflect the reduction in mammography screening since 2000.

There are two main types of in situ breast cancer: ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS). The majority of in situ breast cancers are DCIS, which accounted for about 80% of cases diagnosed from 2002-2006. DCIS is detected by mammography, and the historically large increase in DCIS incidence was a direct result of mammography's ability to detect cancers that cannot be felt.



Figure 3. Incidence Rates* of Invasive and In Situ Female Breast Cancer by Age, Adjusted for Delayed Reporting, US, 1975-2006

*Rates are age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population within each age group.

Data source: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, SEER 9 Registries, 1973-2006, Division of Cancer Control and Population Science, National Cancer Institute, 2009.

American Cancer Society, Surveillance Research, 2009



*Rates are age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population.

Data source: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, 1973-2006, Division of Cancer Control and Population Science, National Cancer Institute, 2009. Data for whites and African Americans are from the SEER 9 registries. Data for other races/ethnicities are from the SEER 13 registries. For Hispanics, incidence data do not include cases from the Alaska Native Registry. Incidence data for American Indians/Alaska Natives are based on Contract Health Service Delivery Area (CHSDA) counties.



Figure 4b. Trends in Female Breast Cancer Death Rates* by Race and Ethnicity, US, 1975-2006

*Rates are age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population.

Data source: National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009. For Hispanics, information is included for all states except Connecticut, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Minnesota, New Hampshire, New York, North Dakota, Oklahoma, Vermont, and Virginia and the District of Columbia.

LCIS is much less common than DCIS, accounting for about 12% of female in situ breast cancers diagnosed from 2002-2006. Similar to DCIS, the overall incidence rate of LCIS increased more rapidly than the incidence of invasive breast cancer. This increase was limited to women over the age of 40 and largely to postmenopausal women.¹⁷ Other in situ breast cancers have characteristics of both ductal and lobular carcinomas or have unspecified origins.



Data source: Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, SEER 9 Registries, 1973-2006, Division of Cancer Control and Population Science, National Cancer Institute, 2009. American Cancer Society, Surveillance Research, 2009





*Rates are age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. **Data sources:** Incidence – Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program, SEER 9 Registries, 1973-2006, Division of Cancer Control and Population Science, National Cancer Institute, 2009. Mortality – National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2009.

Mortality trends – women

The death rate for breast cancer in women has decreased since 1990.

- Between 1975 and 1990, the death rate for all races combined increased by 0.4% annually.
- Between 1990 and 1995, the rate decreased by 1.8% annually.
- Between 1995 and 1998, the rate decreased by 3.3% annually.
- Between 1998 and 2006, the rate decreased by 1.9% annually.³

The percentage decline was larger among younger age groups. From 1990-2006, death rates decreased by 3.2% per year among women younger than 50, and by 2.0% per year among women 50 and older.³ The decline in breast cancer mortality has been attributed to both improvements in breast cancer treatment and early detection.¹⁸ Generally, African American women and women of other racial and ethnic groups have benefited less than white women from these advances. From 1997-2006, female breast cancer death rates declined by 1.9% per year in non-Hispanic whites and Hispanics/Latinas, 1.6% in African Americans, 0.6% per year

in Asian Americans/Pacific Islanders, and remained unchanged among American Indian/Alaska Natives.³ A striking divergence in long-term breast cancer mortality trends between African American and white women began in the early 1980s; by 2006, death rates were 38% higher in African American than white women (Figure 4b, page 6).

Incidence and mortality trends – men

Although breast cancer in men is a rare disease (accounting for approximately 1% of breast cancer cases in the US), between 1975-2006 the incidence rate increased 0.9% annually (Figure 6). The reasons for the increase are unknown and are not attributable to increased detection. Similar to female breast cancer, the incidence of male breast cancer increases with age; however, unlike female breast cancer, incidence rates are higher in African American men compared to white men.¹⁹ Men are more likely than women to be diagnosed with advanced disease and thus have poorer survival.²⁰ Latestage diagnoses are more common in men because they may not be aware of, or respond as quickly to, changes in their breasts. Mammography is not recommended for men because of the rarity of the disease. Death rates from male breast cancer have remained essentially constant since 1975 (Figure 6).

Due to the rarity of male breast cancer, much less is known about the disease than female breast cancer. Risk factors include BRCA gene mutations, Klinefelter syndrome, testicular disorders, family history of male or female breast cancer, and obesity.²¹ A recent study also reported an increased risk for male breast cancer among men with bone fractures occurring after the age of 45, which may be related to changes in the relative levels of estrogen and testosterone that occur with age.²²

What factors influence breast cancer survival?

Based on the most recent data, relative survival rates for women diagnosed with breast cancer are:

- 89% at five years after diagnosis
- 82% after 10 years
- 75% after 15 years

Caution should be used when interpreting long-term survival rates since they reflect the experience of women treated using past therapies and do not reflect recent trends in early detection or advances in treatment.

Stage at diagnosis

Five-year relative survival is lower among women with a more advanced stage at diagnosis (Figure 7). Considering all races, 5-year relative survival is 98% for localized disease, 84% for regional disease, and 23% for distant-stage disease.³ Larger tumor size at diagnosis is also associated with decreased survival. For example, among women of all races with regional disease, the 5-year relative survival is 95% for tumors less than or equal to 2.0 cm, 82% for tumors 2.1-5.0 cm, and 66% for tumors greater than 5.0 cm.

Age at diagnosis

The 5-year relative survival rate is slightly lower among women diagnosed with breast cancer before age 40 (83%) compared to women diagnosed at ages 40 or older (90%). This may be due to tumors diagnosed at younger ages being more aggressive and less responsive to treatment.^{23, 24}

Race/ethnicity and socioeconomic factors

African American women with breast cancer are less likely than white women to survive 5 years: 78% vs. 90%, respectively.³ This difference can be attributed to both later stage at detection and poorer stage-specific survival (Figure 7).

Table 3 (page 10) presents 5-year cause-specific breast cancer survival rates by race and ethnicity. Cause-specific survival rates are used instead of relative survival because estimates of normal life expectancy are not available for most racial groups. Cause-specific survival is the probability of not dying of breast cancer within 5 years of diagnosis. African American women have the lowest cause-specific survival rate of any racial or ethnic group, indicating that they have the greatest probability of dying of breast cancer.

A lack of health insurance is associated with lower survival among breast cancer patients.²⁵ Moreover, breast cancer patients from lower-income areas have lower 5-year relative survival rates than those from higher-income areas at every stage of diagnosis.²⁶ The presence of additional illnesses, unequal access to medical care, and disparities in treatment may contribute to the observed differences in survival between patients living in lower- vs. higher-income areas and between African American and white women.²⁷⁻³² Aggressive tumor characteristics associated with poorer prognosis appear to be more common in African American women and may also contribute to lower survival rates.^{33,34}

What are the known risk factors for breast cancer?

Many of the known breast cancer risk factors, such as age, family history, age at first full-term pregnancy, early menarche, late menopause, and breast density, are not easily modifiable. However, other factors associated with increased breast cancer risk (postmenopausal obesity, use of combined estrogen and progestin menopausal hormones, alcohol consumption, and physical inactivity) are modifiable. Some risk factors directly increase lifetime exposure of breast tissue to circulating



Table 3. Five-year Cause-specific Breast Cancer Survival Rates* by Race/Ethnicity

	Rate (%)
White	88.3
African American	77.3
American Indian/Alaska Native ⁺	84.0
Asian	90.6
Asian Indian, Pakistani	90.5
Chinese	89.9
Filipino	88.1
Japanese	93.1
Korean	90.0
Vietnamese	89.9
Other Asian	93.9
Pacific Islander	85.3
Hawaiian	87.5
Other Pacific Islander	79.6
Hispanic/Latina [‡]	85.8

*Survival rates are based on patients diagnosed between 1999-2005 and followed through 2006. †Based on Contract Health Service Delivery Areas (CHSDA). ‡Persons of Hispanic origin may be of any race. **Source:** Horner et al.³

ovarian hormones (early menarche, late menopause, obesity, and hormone use), whereas others, such as higher socioeconomic status, are only correlates of reproductive behavior or other factors. Established risk factors for breast cancer are listed in Table 4 in order of the strength of their association.

The desire to explain the causes of breast cancer has led to a wide range of proposed explanations from underwire bras to antiperspirants. At present, there is no scientific evidence that shows an association between these products and breast cancer.³⁵ Likewise, no association has been found between breast implants and an increased risk of breast cancer.^{36, 37} There are also persistent claims that women who have had an abortion are at an increased risk for developing breast cancer; however, there is a large body of solid scientific evidence refuting this hypothesis. A review by a panel of experts convened by the National Cancer Institute concluded that there is no association between medical abortion and developing breast cancer.³⁸ Subsequent to that review, results of a study that followed more than 100,000 nurses from 1993 to 2003 also found no link to a previous abortion, either spontaneous or induced.39

Concerns have also been raised among some advocacy groups and survivors that rising breast cancer incidence

in the latter half of the 20th century may be caused by environmental pollutants such as organochlorine pesticides, but studies to date have not found increased concentrations of organochlorines, when measured in adults, to be related to breast cancer risk.^{40, 41} Although animal studies have demonstrated that prolonged high-dose exposure to many industrial chemicals can increase mammary tumors, it is more difficult to determine whether the much lower concentrations of these chemicals that occur - alone or in combination, in air, drinking water, and consumer products - increase the risk of human breast cancer.42 In general, epidemiological studies have not found clear relationships between environmental pollutants and breast cancer, but these studies have had limited capability to study effects on subgroups of the population or to quantify exposures at potentially critical periods of life, such as adolescence.

While limited in number, some epidemiologic studies have examined the relationship between occupational exposures and breast cancer after accounting for other important risk factors, such as reproductive history. One such study found that increasing exposure to ethylene oxide, a fumigant used to sterilize surgical instruments that also has been shown to cause breast cancer in experimental animals, was associated with higher breast cancer risk among women employed in commercial sterilization facilities.43 Studies of nurses who work night shifts and flight attendants who experience circadian rhythm disruption through crossing multiple time zones find increased risks of breast cancer associated with long-term employment.44 Animal studies suggest that exposure to light at night causes circadian rhythm disruption and increases cancer incidence.45 Some researchers suggest that the increased risk of breast cancer may be due to decreases in melatonin levels that occur as a result of exposure to light at night; melatonin may affect estrogen levels as well as act as a tumor supressor.45 Based on the results of studies in humans and experimental animals, the International Agency for Research on Cancer recently concluded that shift work, particularly at night, was probably carcinogenic to humans.⁴⁶ While additional studies are needed to confirm the relationship between shift work and breast cancer, this finding may be important because shift work at night is a common exposure, involving about 15-20% of workers in the US and Europe, and much of the population in industrialized countries is exposed to artificial light at night.

Relative Risk	Factor
>4.0	Female Age (65+ vs. <65 years, although risk increases across all ages until age 80) Certain inherited genetic mutations for breast cancer (BRCA1 and/or BRCA2) Two or more first-degree relatives with breast cancer diagnosed at an early age Personal history of breast cancer High breast tissue density Biopsy-confirmed atypical hyperplasia
2.1-4.0	One first-degree relative with breast cancer High-dose radiation to chest High bone density (postmenopausal)
1.1-2.0	
Factors that affect circulating hormones	Late age at first full-term pregnancy (>30 years) Early menarche (<12 years) Late menopause (>55 years) No full-term pregnancies Never breastfed a child Recent oral contraceptive use Recent and long-term use of estrogen and progestin Obesity (postmenopausal)
Other factors	Personal history of endometrial or ovarian cancer Alcohol consumption Height (tall) High socioeconomic status Ashkenazi Jewish heritage

Increasing age

Besides being female, age is the most important risk factor for breast cancer. Table 5 (page 12) shows a woman's risk of being diagnosed with breast cancer at different ages. These probabilities are averages for the whole population. An individual woman's breast cancer risk may be higher or lower depending on her personal risk factors, experiences, and other factors not yet fully understood.

Currently, a woman living in the US has a 12.1%, or a 1 in 8, lifetime risk of being diagnosed with breast cancer. In the 1970s, the lifetime risk of being diagnosed with breast cancer was 1 in 11. This increase in the likelihood of being diagnosed with breast cancer is due to longer life expectancy, as well as increases in breast cancer incidence due in part to changes in reproductive patterns, long-term menopausal hormone use, the rising prevalence of obesity, and increased detection through screening. Lifetime risk reflects an average woman's risk over an entire lifetime, including the possibility that she may die from another cause before she would have developed breast cancer, and should not be confused with risk over a shorter time period.

Family history of breast cancer and genetic predisposition

Women with a family history of breast cancer, especially in a first-degree relative (mother, sister, or daughter), are at increased risk of developing breast cancer.47 The risk is higher if more than one first-degree relative developed breast cancer and increases the younger the relative was at the time of diagnosis. Ovarian cancer is also linked to breast cancer in certain family cancer syndromes. Women with a family history of breast or ovarian cancer in their mothers, sisters, daughters, aunts, or grandmothers on either their mother's or father's side should discuss this history with their physicians.

It is estimated that 5%-10% of breast cancer cases result from inherited mutations or alterations in the breast cancer susceptibility genes, BRCA1 and BRCA2.48 These mutations are present in far less than 1% of the general population.49 Women with BRCA1 mutations are estimated to have a 57% risk for developing breast cancer by age 70; the corresponding risk for BRCA2 mutations is 49%.⁵⁰

While a family history of breast cancer suggests an inherited influence on disease risk, BRCA1 or BRCA2

Table 5. Age-specific Probabilities of Developing Invasive Female Breast Cancer*

lf current age is	The probability of developing breast cancer in the next 10 years is: †	or 1 in:
20	0.06%	1,760
30	0.44%	229
40	1.44%	69
50	2.39%	42
60	3.40%	29
70	3.73%	27
Lifetime risk	12.08%	8

*Among those free of cancer at beginning of age interval. Based on cases diagnosed 2004-2006. Percentages and "1 in" numbers may not be numerically equivalent due to rounding.

+ Probability derived using NCI DevCan Software, Version 6.4.0.

mutations account for only about 50% of familial breast cancer.⁵¹ Breast cancer can also result from the inheritance of other less common genetic syndromes (e.g., Li-Fraumeni and Cowden syndromes). However, scientists believe that much of the occurrence of breast cancer in families results from the interaction between lifestyle factors and low risk variations in genetic factors that may be shared by women within a family.⁵²

Molecular tests are commercially available to identify some of the BRCA mutations and many of the family cancer syndromes responsible for inherited forms of breast cancer, yet the interpretation of these tests and treatment decisions remain complicated.⁵³ It is not yet possible to predict if or when women who carry a particular mutation will develop breast cancer. Furthermore, tests are not available for all of the genes that affect breast cancer risk.

The US Preventive Services Task Force recommends that only women with a strong family history (about 2% of adult US women) be evaluated for genetic testing for BRCA mutations.⁵⁴ The American Cancer Society, the American Society for Clinical Oncology, and other organizations strongly recommend that any person considering genetic testing talk with a genetic counselor, nurse, or doctor who is qualified to interpret and explain the test results before making a decision about testing. People should understand and carefully weigh the benefits and potential consequences of genetic testing before these tests are done. For more information, see the separate American Cancer Society document *Genetic Testing: What You Need to Know.*

Hormonal factors

Reproductive hormones are thought to influence breast cancer risk through effects on cell proliferation and DNA damage, as well as promotion of cancer growth. Early menarche (<12 years) and older age at menopause (>55 years) may increase a woman's risk of breast cancer by affecting the levels of reproductive hormones produced by her body.⁵⁵ Younger age at first-full term pregnancy (<30 years) and a greater number of pregnancies decreases the risk of breast cancer over the long term; however, there also appears to be a transient increase in breast cancer risk following a term pregnancy, particularly among women who have a first birth at older ages.^{56,57} Breastfeeding has consistently been shown to decrease a woman's risk of breast cancer, with greater benefit associated with longer duration.58 Recent use of oral contraceptives may slightly increase the risk of breast cancer; however, women who have stopped using oral contraceptives for 10 years or more have the same risk as women who never used the pill.59

Recent use of menopausal hormones (sometimes referred to as hormone replacement therapy [HRT] or menopausal hormone therapy) with combined estrogen and progestin has been shown to increase breast cancer risk, with higher risk associated with longer use.^{60, 61} However, the increased risk appears to diminish within 5 years of discontinuation of hormone use.^{10, 60, 62} Estrogen alone can be prescribed for women without a uterus and this treatment is not associated with an increased risk of developing breast cancer.⁶²⁻⁶⁵

Clinical factors

High breast tissue density (a mammographic indicator of the amount of glandular tissue relative to fatty tissue in the breast) has been shown to be a strong independent risk factor for the development of breast cancer. In several studies, women with the highest levels of breast density were found to have a 4- to 6-fold increased risk of breast cancer, compared with women with the least dense breasts.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸ For more information on the relationship between breast tissue density and breast cancer, see current research on early detection, page 23.

High bone mineral density in postmenopausal women also has been recognized as a risk factor for breast cancer.^{69, 70} Bone density is routinely measured to identify women at increased risk for osteoporosis, as high bone density indicates absence of osteoporosis, and may help determine a woman's risk for developing breast cancer. The association between bone density and breast cancer is probably mediated by hormonal factors. Some types of benign breast conditions are more closely linked to breast cancer risk than others.71-74 Doctors often categorize benign breast conditions into 3 general groups, reflecting the degree of risk: non-proliferative lesions, proliferative lesions without atypia, and proliferative lesions with atypia. Non-proliferative lesions are those not associated with any overgrowth of breast tissue and have little to no effect on breast cancer risk. Proliferative lesions without atypia (those with excessive growth of cells in the ducts or lobules of the breast tissue) are associated with a small increase in the risk of breast cancer (1.5 to 2 times normal). Proliferative lesions with atypia (those with excessive growth of cells in the ducts or lobules of the breast tissue and the cells no longer appear normal) are associated with the greatest breast cancer risk - 4 to 5 times that of average-risk women. They include atypical ductal hyperplasia (ADH) and atypical lobular hyperplasia (ALH). Women with a family history of breast cancer and either hyperplasia or atypical hyperplasia may have an even higher risk of developing breast cancer. Women should keep detailed records of any benign breast biopsy results, as this will be useful information if treatment is needed for a future breast cancer diagnosis.

Women with breast cancer also are at risk for developing a second primary cancer. There is a strong relationship between younger age at diagnosis of the primary breast cancer and risk of subsequent cancer. Women diagnosed with early-onset breast cancer (age <40) have almost a 3-fold increased risk of any subsequent cancer, with a 4.5-fold increased risk of subsequent breast cancer.⁷⁵ Genetic predisposition, notably mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes, contribute to the excess risk of subsequent cancer among women with early-onset breast cancer.⁷⁶ In addition, breast cancer survivors may be at increased risk of developing subsequent cancers of the breast and ovary because of hormonal and reproductive risk factors.⁷⁷

Radiation

The link between radiation exposure and breast cancer has been demonstrated in studies of atomic bomb survivors⁷⁸ and women who received high-dose radiation therapy to the chest, particularly those who were first exposed at younger ages.⁷⁹ Among atomic bomb survivors, increased risk of breast cancer was greatest among women exposed during adolescence. The development period when the terminal ducts and lobules of the breast have not completed differentiation may be a time of increased susceptibility to exogenous carcinogens.⁸⁰

A Comment about Relative Risk

Relative risk compares the risk of disease among people with a particular exposure to the risk among people without that exposure. If the relative risk is above 1.0, then risk is higher among exposed than unexposed persons. Relative risks below 1.0 reflect an inverse or protective association between a risk factor and the disease, or a protective effect. However, while relative risks are useful for comparisons, they do not provide information about the absolute amount of additional risk experienced by the exposed group.

For example, one study found current users of combination estrogen and progestin menopausal hormones have a relative risk of developing breast cancer of 1.26, or a 26% increased risk.⁸¹ Among 10,000 women who use estrogen and progestin for 5.2 years, the estimated number of breast cancers expected to be diagnosed is 38. Among 10,000 women of the same ages who never used menopausal hormones, 30 cases would be expected over the same period. Therefore, the 26% increased risk results in a total of 8 additional cases per 10,000 women diagnosed over a period of 5.2 years.

Breast cancer is one of the most common types of second cancers occurring among childhood cancer survivors. Secondary breast cancer is most strongly associated with high-dose radiation therapy to the chest for women treated between ages 10 and 30 years, such as for Hodgkin lymphoma. Breast cancer incidence rates among women with such exposure start to rise about 8 years after radiation treatment and continue to be elevated for more than 25 years.⁷⁵

To estimate one's risk for developing breast cancer, risk assessment tools are available at the Harvard School of Public Health's Web site (diseaseriskindex.harvard. edu/update/) and the National Cancer Institute's Web site (cancer.gov/bcrisktool/).

Can breast cancer be prevented?

At this time, there is no sure way to prevent breast cancer, which is why regular mammograms are so important. A woman's best overall preventive health strategy is to reduce her known risk factors as much as possible by avoiding weight gain and obesity, engaging in regular physical activity, and minimizing alcohol intake.^{82, 83} Women who choose to breast-feed for an extended period of time (studies suggest a year or more) may also get an added benefit of reducing their breast cancer risk. Women should consider the increased risk of breast cancer associated with the use of estrogen and progestin when evaluating treatment options for menopausal symptoms.

Treatment with tamoxifen or raloxifene can also reduce the risk of breast cancer among women at high risk (see section below on chemoprevention).

Obesity

Obesity, as well as weight gain during adulthood, increases the risk of postmenopausal, but not premenopausal breast cancer.84-88 A recent study found that women who gained 55 pounds or more after age 18 had almost 50% greater risk of breast cancer compared with those who maintained their weight. A gain of 22 pounds or more after menopause was associated with an increased risk of 18%, whereas losing at least 22 pounds after menopause and maintaining the weight loss was associated with 57% lower breast cancer risk.85 In postmenopausal women, circulating estrogen is primarily produced in fat tissue. Thus, having more fat tissue increases estrogen levels and the likelihood of developing breast cancer. Given the large percentage of women in the US who are overweight or obese, strategies to maintain a healthy body weight are important to reduce the risk of both developing and dying from breast cancer.

Physical activity

Growing evidence supports a modest protective effect of physical activity on breast cancer.^{84, 89-93} Although most studies find reduced risk in women who exercise vigorously for 45 to 60 minutes on 5 or more days per week, one study suggests that regular physical activity, regardless of intensity, may reduce the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women.⁸⁹ The protective effect of physical activity appears greatest among postmenopausal women and women with normal BMI.⁹¹ The underlying mechanism of this potential protection is not well understood, although it has been hypothesized that the benefit may be due to the effects of physical activity on body mass, hormones, and energy balance.⁹⁴

Alcohol consumption

In 2007, the International Agency for Research on Cancer concluded that there was sufficient evidence that alcohol consumption causes breast cancer in women.⁹⁵ A meta-analysis of more than 40 epidemiologic studies suggests that the equivalent of 2 drinks a day (or 24g of alcohol) may increase breast cancer risk by 21%.⁹⁶ Recent studies have also reported that even low to moderate alcohol consumption (3-14 drinks per week) is associated with a slight increase in the risk of breast cancer.^{97, 98} The increased risk is dose-dependent and exists regardless of the type of alcoholic beverage consumed. One of the most likely mechanisms by which alcohol increases risk of breast cancer is by increasing estrogen and androgen levels. Thus, reducing alcohol intake may be a useful strategy for reducing breast cancer risk among regular consumers of alcohol.

Tobacco

Most studies have found no link between active cigarette smoking and breast cancer.99, 100 Though both active smoking and secondhand smoke have been suggested to increase the risk of breast cancer in a number of studies that restrict the comparison group to women who report no exposure to secondhand smoke, this issue remains controversial.^{100, 101} The California Environmental Protection Agency has concluded that regular exposure to secondhand smoke is causally related to breast cancer diagnosed in younger, primarily premenopausal women.¹⁰² However, the US surgeon general has characterized the evidence linking secondhand smoke and breast cancer as "suggestive but not sufficient" to infer a causal relationship.¹⁰³ Regardless, not smoking cigarettes and avoiding exposure to secondhand smoke has multiple health benefits.

Menopausal hormones

Use of estrogen and progestin increases the risk of developing breast cancer.^{10, 62, 104} Estrogen and progestin use may also increase the risk of a late-stage diagnosis by increasing breast tissue density, thereby reducing the effectiveness of mammograms.

The US Preventive Services Task Force has recommended against the routine use of menopausal hormones for the prevention of chronic diseases such as osteoporosis and heart disease in postmenopausal women.¹⁰⁵ However, if a woman and her doctor decide that hormone therapy is appropriate to treat specific menopausal symptoms or health problems, it should be prescribed at the lowest effective dose and for as short a time as possible. A woman considering the use of estrogen and progestin should discuss the benefits and risks with her health care provider, as well as alternative treatment options.

Chemoprevention

The use of drugs to reduce the risk of disease is called chemoprevention. Several clinical studies have shown that, in women known to be at increased risk for breast cancer, the drugs tamoxifen and raloxifene reduce this risk.¹⁰⁶ Tamoxifen has been used for more than 30 years as a treatment for some breast cancers. In 1998, a large randomized trial of more than 13.000 women first demonstrated that tamoxifen can also be used to reduce the risk of invasive and in situ breast cancer in women at high risk for developing the disease; however, the reduction in risk was limited to estrogen-receptor positive disease.¹⁰⁷ After an average of 7 years of follow-up, breast cancer risk decreased by 42% in the group that received tamoxifen, with 25 cases of breast cancer diagnosed per 1,000 women in the group, compared to 43 cases per 1,000 in the group who did not receive tamoxifen. A protective effect was also observed in an international randomized prevention trial involving more than 7,000 women.¹⁰⁸ After a median follow-up time of 8 years, breast cancer risk was reduced by 26% in the women who received tamoxifen, with 124 cases diagnosed among 3,579 women in the tamoxifen group, compared to 168 cases among 3,575 women in the group not receiving tamoxifen. These long-term follow-up results indicate that the reduction in risk persists after completion of the 5-year treatment schedule. However, administration of tamoxifen resulted in some risks in both trials, particularly an increased risk of endometrial cancer.

In a study looking at raloxifene for the prevention of osteoporosis, researchers noticed that patients taking raloxifene had a lower risk of breast cancer than the control group.¹⁰⁹ The Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR) trial compared the effectiveness of tamoxifen and raloxifene and found that raloxifene reduced the risk of invasive breast cancer to the same degree as tamoxifen, although it didn't have the same protective effect against in situ cancer (DCIS or LCIS).¹¹⁰ Like tamoxifen, the benefit appears to be limited to reducing the risk of devloping an estrogen receptorpositive breast cancer.¹¹¹ Raloxifene appears to have lower risks of certain side effects, such as endometrial cancer and blood clots in the legs or lungs, compared to tamoxifen.¹¹⁰

A woman at increased risk of breast cancer should discuss taking tamoxifen or raloxifene with her doctor. It is estimated that more than 2 million US women could benefit from chemoprevention with these drugs.¹¹²

Prophylactic surgery

Women at very high risk of breast cancer may elect prophylactic (preventive) mastectomy. This operation removes one or both breasts before breast cancer has been discovered. Some women may choose to have their breasts reconstructed after the surgery. One study reported a greater than 90% reduction in the risk of breast cancer in high-risk women with family history who received prophylactic mastectomy.¹¹³ Subsequent studies confirmed the benefit of prophylactic mastectomy in genetically susceptible women (i.e., women with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations).^{114, 115} Some women who are diagnosed with breast cancer in one breast choose to have the second breast removed. This is known as contralateral prophylactic mastectomy (CPM). (For more information on CPM, see current research on prevention on page 23.) While the operation greatly reduces the risk of breast cancer, it does not guarantee that cancer will not develop in the small amount of breast tissue remaining after the operation. Prophylactic oophorectomy (surgical removal of the ovaries) reduces the risk of both breast and ovarian cancers in carriers of BRCA mutations.^{116, 117} A woman considering these operations should discuss this carefully with her doctor. A second opinion is strongly recommended.

What are the signs and symptoms of breast cancer?

Breast cancer typically produces no symptoms when the tumor is small and most treatable. It is therefore very important for women to follow recommended screening guidelines for detecting breast cancer at an early stage, before symptoms develop. When breast cancer has grown to a size that can be felt, the most common physical sign is a painless mass. Sometimes breast cancer can spread to underarm lymph nodes and cause a lump or swelling, even before the original breast tumor is large enough to be felt. Less common signs and symptoms include breast pain or heaviness; persistent changes to the breast, such as swelling, thickening, or redness of the breast's skin; and nipple abnormalities such as spontaneous discharge, erosion, inversion, or tenderness. A woman should have any persistent abnormality evaluated by her physician as soon as possible.

How can breast cancer be detected early?

American Cancer Society guidelines for the early detection of breast cancer vary depending on a woman's age, and include mammography and clinical breast examination (CBE) (Table 6, page 16), as well as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for women at high risk.

In 2007, an expert panel convened by the Society reported new recommendations for the use of MRI for women at increased risk for breast cancer.⁵¹ The panel

Table 6. Screening Guidelines for the EarlyDetection of Breast Cancer in Average-risk,Asymptomatic Women Aged 20 Years and Older

Breast self-examination

Beginning in their early 20s, women should be told about the benefits and limitations of breast self-examination (BSE). The importance of prompt reporting of any new breast symptoms to a health professional should be emphasized. Women who choose to do BSE should receive instruction and have their technique reviewed on the occasion of a periodic health examination. It is acceptable for women to choose not to do BSE or to do BSE irregularly.

Clinical breast examination

For women in their 20s and 30s, it is recommended that clinical breast examination (CBE) be part of a periodic health examination, preferably at least every three years. Asymptomatic women aged 40 and over should continue to receive a clinical breast examination as part of a periodic health examination, preferably annually and prior to mammography.

Mammography

Begin annual mammography at age 40.

recommended annual screening using MRI in addition to mammography for women at high lifetime risk (~20%-25% or greater) of the disease. Women at moderately increased risk (15%-20% lifetime risk) should talk with their doctors about the benefits and limitations of adding MRI screening to their yearly mammogram. Yearly MRI screening is not recommended for women whose lifetime risk of breast cancer is less than 15%.

Women at high risk include those who:

- Have a known BRCA1 or BRCA2 gene mutation
- Have a first-degree relative (mother, father, brother, sister, or child) with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 gene mutation, and have not had genetic testing themselves
- Have a lifetime risk of breast cancer of approximately 20%-25% or greater, according to risk assessment tools that are based mainly on family history
- Had radiation therapy to the chest when they were between the ages of 10 and 30 years
- Have Li-Fraumeni syndrome, Cowden syndrome, or Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba syndrome, or have a firstdegree relative with one of these syndromes

Women at moderately increased risk include those who:

• Have a lifetime risk of breast cancer of 15%-20%, according to risk assessment tools that are based mainly on family history

- Have a personal history of breast cancer, ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS), atypical ductal hyperplasia (ADH), or atypical lobular hyperplasia (ALH)
- Have extremely dense breasts or unevenly dense breasts when viewed by mammograms

Although the American Cancer Society no longer recommends that all women perform monthly breast selfexams (BSE), women should be informed about the potential benefits and limitations associated with BSE. Research has shown that self awareness is more effective for detecting breast cancer than structured BSE. Women who detect their own breast cancer usually find it outside of a structured breast self-exam while bathing or getting dressed. A woman who wishes to perform periodic BSE should receive instruction from her health care provider and/or have her technique reviewed periodically.

Mammography

Numerous randomized trials, as well as populationbased screening evaluations, have clearly shown that mammography reduces the risk of dying from breast cancer. Early detection of breast cancer by mammography may lead to a greater range of treatment options, including less-aggressive surgery (e.g., lumpectomy vs. mastectomy) and adjuvant therapy.¹¹⁸⁻¹²¹

However, mammography does have limitations. Not all breast cancer will be detected by a mammogram and some breast cancers detected by mammography may still have poor prognosis. Furthermore, mammography sometimes leads to follow-up examinations for positive test results, including biopsies of findings that are eventually determined to not be cancer. Despite these limitations, mammography is the single most effective method of early detection since it can identify cancer several years before physical symptoms develop. Treatment is more successful when cancer is discovered early.

What is mammography?

Mammography is a low-dose x-ray procedure that allows visualization of the internal structure of the breast. Mammography is highly accurate, but like most medical tests, it is not perfect. On average, mammography will detect about 80%-90% of the breast cancers in women without symptoms. Testing is somewhat more accurate in postmenopausal than in premenopausal women.¹²² The small percentage of breast cancers that are not identified by mammography may be missed for any one of the following reasons: high breast density, inadequate positioning of the breast, or simply failing to see the small early signs of an abnormality. Although the overwhelming majority of women who undergo screening each year do not have breast cancer, about 5%-10% of women have their mammogram interpreted as abnormal or inconclusive until further tests are done. In most instances, additional tests (imaging studies and/or biopsy) lead to a final interpretation of normal breast tissue or benign (non-cancerous) tissue.

The American Cancer Society recommends that women receive an annual mammogram beginning at age 40. It is especially important that women receive *regular* mammograms. Recommended screening intervals are based on the duration of time a breast cancer is detectable by mammography before symptoms develop. Studies have shown that many breast cancers are diagnosed as larger, more advanced cancers simply because too much time has elapsed from the date of the last normal mammogram.^{123, 124} For this reason, women should talk with their doctors about a plan for receiving regular mammograms according to recommended guidelines.

There is no specific age at which mammography screening should be discontinued. Rather, the decision to stop regular mammography screening should be individualized based on the potential benefits and risks of screening within the context of overall health status and estimated longevity. As long as a woman is in good health and would be a candidate for breast cancer treatment, she should continue to be screened with mammography.

Today's modern, dedicated screen-film units result in higher-quality images with considerably lower x-ray dose than the general-purpose x-ray equipment used in the past, and newer, digital mammography systems are even more accurate for women with dense breast tissues.¹²⁵ Many people are concerned about the exposure to x-rays, but the level of radiation used in modern mammography does not measurably increase the risk for breast cancer. The Mammography Quality Standards Act, passed by Congress in 1992 and administered by the Food and Drug Administration, requires facilities to meet specific standards of quality in order to offer mammography.

Medicare, Medicaid, and most private health insurance plans cover mammogram costs or a percentage of them. Low-cost mammograms are available in most communities. Contact the American Cancer Society at 1-800-227-2345 for information about facilities in your area.

Prevalence of mammography

According to the National Health Interview Survey, the percentage of women aged 40 years and older who report having had a mammogram within the past two years increased from 29% in 1987 to 70% in 2000. Since then, mammography utilization stabilized through 2003 and showed small declines through 2005 (66.5%).⁸ Women who have less than a high school education, who have no health insurance coverage, or who are recent immigrants to the US are least likely to have had a recent mammogram (Table 7, page 18). Furthermore, low-income women are less likely to have had a mammogram within the past 2 years than women at or above the poverty level and recent declines in mammography usage have been greater among poorer women (Table 8, page 19).

Table 9 (page 20) shows the percentage of US women aged 40 and older who have had a mammogram within the past year by state, based on data from the 2006 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System.¹²⁶ Reported screening rates range from 48.7% in Oklahoma to 71.4% in Massachusetts.

Efforts to increase screening should specifically target socioeconomically disadvantaged women and recent immigrants, who are most likely to have the lowest rates of mammographic screening.^{127, 128} The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP) was begun in 1990 to improve access to breast cancer screening and diagnostic services for low-income women; however, the CDC estimates that the program is currently only reaching about 16% of the women eligible to receive a screening mammogram, due in part to funding shortages.¹²⁹ The American Cancer Society is committed to helping increase funding for NBCCEDP in order to expand the number of women who can be served through the program.

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)

MRI uses magnetic fields instead of x-rays to produce very detailed, cross-sectional images of the body. MRI exams for breast imaging use a contrast material (usually gadolinium DTPA) that is injected into a small vein in the arm before or during the exam. This improves the ability of the MRI to capture detailed images of breast tissue. For certain women at high risk for breast cancer based on the previously outlined criteria (page 16), a screening MRI is recommended along with a yearly mammogram. MRIs are not meant to take the place of mammograms.

Table 7. Mammography Use, Women 40 and Older, US, 2005

% Characteristic	6 Mammogram within the past year*	% Mammogram within the past two years*
Age		
40-49	47.8	63.5
50-64	55.5	71.8
65+	50.2	63.8
Race/Ethnicity		
White (non-Hispanic)	52.9	68.1
African American (non-Hispanic)	49.9	64.9
Hispanic/Latina	41.7	59.6
American Indian and Alaska Nativ	ve† 46.9	66.6
Asian American [‡]	37.9	54.2
Education		
Less than high school	40.4	53.0
High school graduate	49.0	64.4
Some college or AA degree	53.6	69.1
College graduate	60.2	76.8
Health insurance coverage		
Yes	54.1	69.8
No	24.1	33.2
Immigration [§]		
Born in US	52.2	67.2
In US less than 10 years	34.9	50.0
In US 10 or more years	46.0	63.3
Total	51.2	66.5

*Percentages are age-adjusted to 2000 US standard population. † Estimates should be interpreted with caution because of small sample sizes. ‡ Does not include Native Hawiaiians and other Pacific Islanders. § Definition has changed such that individuals born in the US or in a US territory are reported separately from individuals born outside of the US. Individuals born in a US territory have been in the US for any length of time.

Data source: National Health Interview Survey Public Use Data File 2005, National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006.

American Cancer Society, Surveillance Research, 2009

Just as mammography uses x-ray machines designed especially to image the breasts, breast MRI also requires special equipment. Higher-quality images are produced by dedicated breast MRI equipment than by machines designed for head, chest, or abdominal MRI scanning. However, many hospitals and imaging centers do not have dedicated breast MRI equipment available. It is important that screening MRIs are done at facilities that are capable of performing an MRI-guided breast biopsy at the time of the exam if abnormalities are found. Otherwise, the scan must be repeated at another facility at the time of the biopsy. MRI is also more expensive than mammography. Most major insurance companies will likely pay for these screening tests if a woman can be shown to be at high risk. At this time there are concerns about costs of and access to high-quality MRI breast screening services for women at high risk of breast cancer.

Clinical breast examination (CBE)

For average-risk asymptomatic women in their 20s and 30s, it is recommended that a breast exam be a part of a regular health examination, preferably at least every 3 years. For women aged 40 and older, annual CBE can be an important complement to mammography, since a small percentage of cancers may be missed by mammography. Preferably, women should have their CBE shortly before their annual mammogram. For CBE, the woman undresses from the waist up. Using the pads of the fingers, the examiner gently feels the breasts, giving special attention to shape, texture, location of any lumps, and whether such lumps are attached to the skin or to deeper tissues. The breasts should also be inspected for skin changes (e.g., dimpling, redness) and asymmetry. The area under both arms will also be examined. CBE is also an opportunity for a woman and her health care provider to discuss changes in her breasts, early detection testing, and factors in the woman's history that might make her more likely to develop breast cancer. The duration of a properly conducted CBE is influenced by breast size and composition, but generally will take about 10 minutes.

Breast self-awareness

All women should become familiar with both the appearance and feel of their breasts to detect any changes and report them promptly to their physician. A woman who chooses to perform breast self-exams (BSE) should receive instructions and have her technique reviewed by a health care professional who performs clinical examinations. If symptoms develop after a recent, normal mammogram, a woman should not assume that it is nothing to worry about; she should contact her doctor immediately. Lumps are not necessarily abnormal, and for women who are still menstruating, they can appear and disappear with the menstrual cycle. Most lumps that are detected and tested are not cancerous.

The American Cancer Society believes the use of regular mammograms, MRI (in women at high risk), and clinical breast exams should be a part of every woman's preventive health care. Finding and reporting breast changes early offers women the best opportunity for reducing

Table 8. Mammography Use* by Age and Poverty Status[†], US, Selected Years 1987-2005

		40-49 years		50-64 years				65 years and over			
Year	Poor	Near poor	Non-poor	Poor	Near poor	Non-poor	Poor	Near poor	Non-poor		
1987	18.6	18.4	36.4	14.6	24.2	36.9	13.1	19.9	29.5		
1990	32.2	39.0	60.1	29.9	39.8	63.3	30.8	38.6	51.5		
1991	33.0	43.8	61.2	37.3	50.2	66.0	35.2	41.8	57.8		
1994	44.3	50.9	67.4	44.7	50.3	75.1	43.2	47.9	64.9		
1998	44.8	46.9	68.4	52.7	61.8	78.7	51.9	57.8	70.1		
1999	51.3	52.8	71.6	63.3	64.9	80.2	57.6	60.2	72.5		
2000	47.4	43.6	69.9	61.7	68.3	82.6	54.8	60.3	75.0		
2003	50.6	54.0	68.3	58.3	64.0	80.9	57.0	62.8	72.6		
2005	42.5	49.8	69.0	50.4	58.8	76.8	52.3	56.1	70.1		

*Percent of women having a mammogram within the past two years. † Poor persons are defined as below the poverty threshold. Near poor persons have income of 100% to less than 200% of the poverty threshold. Non-poor persons have an income greater than or equal to 200% of the poverty level. **Data source:** Data for 1987-2005 from *Health, United States,* 2008.

American Cancer Society, Surveillance Research, 2009

breast cancer deaths. The combined approach is clearly better than any single test. Breast physical exams without regular mammograms will miss many breast cancers that are too small for a woman or her doctor to feel but can be seen on mammograms. Although a mammogram is a sensitive screening method, a small percentage of breast cancers do not show up on mammograms but can be felt by a woman or her physician.

How is breast cancer treated?

Treatment decisions are made by the patient and her physician after consideration of the optimal treatment available for the stage and biological characteristics of the cancer, the patient's age and preferences, and the risks and benefits associated with each treatment protocol. Most women with breast cancer will have some type of surgery. Surgery is often combined with other treatments such as radiation therapy, chemotherapy, hormone therapy, and/or biologic therapy. Treatment guidelines from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network are available via free registration on its Web site (nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/PDF/breast.pdf).

Surgery

The primary goal of breast cancer surgery is to remove the cancer from the breast and to assess the stage of disease. In a lumpectomy, only cancerous tissue plus a rim of normal tissue is removed. Simple or total mastectomy includes removal of the entire breast. Modified radical mastectomy includes removal of the entire breast and lymph nodes under the arm, but does not include removal of the underlying chest wall muscle, as with a radical mastectomy. Radical mastectomy is rarely used due to the proven effectiveness of less aggressive and disfiguring surgeries.¹³⁰

If a woman chooses to have a mastectomy, she may consider having the breast reconstructed. Breast reconstruction may be done with saline-filled or siliconefilled implants or tissue from other parts of her body. A woman considering this option should discuss this with her breast surgeon prior to her mastectomy surgery as it may influence the surgical site (inpatient vs. outpatient) and type of procedure.

Lumpectomy is almost always followed by about 5 to 7 weeks of radiation therapy. A woman who chooses lumpectomy and radiation will have the same expected long-term survival as if she had chosen mastectomy.¹³¹

Both lumpectomy and mastectomy are often accompanied by removal of regional lymph nodes from the axilla, or armpit, to determine if the disease has spread beyond the breast. The presence of any cancer cells in the lymph nodes will help determine the need for subsequent therapy and the course it should take. Sentinel lymph node biopsy, in which selected lymph nodes are removed and tested before any others are excised, may reduce the need for full axillary lymph node dissections among most women with no evidence of lymph node enlargement before surgery.¹³²⁻¹³⁴ Prior to surgery, paients should talk with their doctors to determine whether or not they intend to perform sentinel lymph node biopsy. If a woman is eligible for sentinel lymph node biopsy and wishes to have this procedure, her breast cancer surgery should be performed at a facility

Table 9. Mammography and Clinical Breast Exam, Women 40 and Older by State, US, 2006

	% Recent Mammogram*					% Recent Mammogram and Clinical Breast Exam $^{\scriptscriptstyle \dagger}$				
-	40+ years	40-64 years	65+ years	No usual source of medical care [‡]	No health insurance ^s	40+ years	40-64 years	65+ years	No usual source of medical care [‡]	No health insurance§
Alabama	59.6	59.3	60.2	26.4	29.4	52.8	54.8	48.2	21.5	23.3
Alaska	55.7	53.9	63.5	37.5	45.8	50.8	49.7	56.2	34.7	38.7
Arizona	59.7	56.1	67.1	38.5	32.1	51.8	49.9	55.8	28.3	25.5
Arkansas	54.5	52.6	58.4	20.8	27.5	46.5	46.9	45.7	15.9	23.5
California	61.0	59.4	65.2	37.2	40.1	49.7	49.9	49.2	26.7	35.0
Colorado	56.4	55.3	59.7	27.2	27.1	49.0	49.1	48.6	22.1	25.6
Connecticut	69.9	69.1	71.7	35.8	43.8	62.0	63.3	59.1	25.0	38.0
Delaware	70.2	70.2	70.2	35.7	57.1	62.8	65.0	58.0	31.2	50.0
District of Columbia	64.2	63.0	66.8	39.5	36.6	57.5	58.7	55.0	33.5	32.3
Florida	64.8	61.0	71.2	32.8	33.4	54.9	54.1	56.2	24.5	27.8
Georgia	64.0	62.2	69.1	39.3	/2 5	57.4	579	56.0	35.0	37.9
Цамаіі	62.7	61.1	66.1	31/	42.5	53.0	53.3	52.7	25 /	25.7
Idaho	51.2	47.6	50.1	24.7	27.5	/5.3	/3.2	50.5	23.4	20.7
Illinois	58.1	56.9	60.8	27.6	21.0	50.2	50.7	/0.5	20.0	28.8
Indiana	54.2	52.0	56.8	27.0	20.7	16.2	47.0	49.1	20.9	20.0
	54.2	55.0	50.8	27.5	20.0	40.2	47.0	44.4	20.5	24.1
lowa	63.5	62.9	64.5	33.4	29.7	55.8	57.6	52.1	29.6	25.0
Kansas	60.3	58.1	64.9	22.5	31.0	53.2	53.1	53.5	19.8	26.9
Kentucky	57.6	56.4	60.5	27.1	29.3	49.1	49.2	48.8	21.2	26.2
Louisiana	61.3	60.5	63.2	36.5	36.9	54.1	55.1	51.9	31.1	32.5
Maine	68.0	66.7	/0.8	26.9	38.5	60.7	61.4	59.2	20.9	33.0
Maryland	63.9	62.7	67.0	39.7	39.6	57.0	57.2	56.3	35.2	34.3
Massachusetts	71.4	70.2	74.1	37.4	61.0	62.8	63.8	60.6	29.8	56.8
Michigan	64.2	63.4	65.9	30.8	38.3	57.7	59.4	53.9	28.4	36.9
Minnesota	68.0	67.6	69.0	33.1	27.1	63.8	64.3	62.6	30.5	26.7
Mississippi	51.2	50.6	52.4	27.7	31.1	44.5	45.3	42.7	23.5	25.3
Missouri	56.6	57.1	55.5	25.2	23.1	47.2	50.5	40.0	22.6	21.4
Montana	57.4	55.1	62.7	33.4	28.9	51.0	50.5	52.1	26.3	24.2
Nebraska	59.6	59.3	60.2	30.8	39.8	53.0	55.3	48.2	26.2	35.2
Nevada	54.5	54.7	54.0	26.7	34.0	47.1	48.7	42.8	22.6	31.7
New Hampshire	66.1	65.5	67.8	20.2	31.6	60.5	61.8	57.0	20.0	30.6
New Jersev	63.8	64.8	61 5	43.0	44 1	56 1	58 5	50.9	37.8	34.1
New Mexico	52.0	51.0	54 3	26.2	28.4	45.2	45.6	44.2	20.4	23.7
New York	65.0	63.8	67.7	377	46.8	571	58.3	54.5	26.3	37.4
North Carolina	63.9	63.5	64.9	34.4	35.9	53.9	55.3	50.5	28.6	29.8
North Dakota	63.0	62.0	65.1	40.7	50.2	56.0	57.4	53.3	36.0	48.8
Ohio	61.0	52.0	65.7	27.1	40.5	52.0	54.5	40.5	24.1	14.1
Oklahoma	19.7	16.9	52.5	27.1	49.5	JJ.U /111	J4.J /1.6	20.0	19.0	24 2
Oragon	40.7	40.9	52.5 60.1	21.7	20.2	41.1 52.2	41.0 51.0	59.9	10.9	24.5
Diegon	62.2	57.0	64.9	25.9	20.5	52.5	51.0	55.5	19.4	23.0
Perinsylvariia Rhodo Island	02.2	00.8	04.8	31.0	20.2	54.9	55.4	53.9 60 F	30.Z	23.0
	70.6	71.0	70.5	41.0	50.5	04.0	00.9	00.5	57.1	40.2
South Carolina	57.4	55.7	61.2	26.3	34.0	49.2	49.3	48.9	22.3	28.8
South Dakota	59.1	56.5	63.9	30.1	29.9	51.9	51.9	52.1	27.5	27.3
Tennessee	61.7	61.1	63.0	39.9	37.0	55.6	56.5	53.3	34.0	31.3
lexas	56.0	54.0	61.4	27.2	30.2	50.4	50.4	50.2	24.9	26.7
utan	48.9	45./	57.0	21.0	22.2	39.5	38.6	41.8	16.4	18.0
Vermont	64.2	62.7	67.8	28.1	38.0	56.5	57.5	54.1	25.7	33.4
Virginia	62.2	60.6	66.5	33.5	25.2	54.6	55.0	53.4	28.1	23.9
Washington	59.5	57.4	65.0	27.5	29.4	51.7	51.6	51.8	23.2	26.0
West Virginia	61.9	61.5	62.7	27.0	28.3	54.2	56.6	49.3	24.6	26.1
Wisconsin	62.2	60.9	65.2	20.6	38.0	57.8	57.3	58.9	19.1	36.5
Wyoming	52.7	50.0	59.6	29.2	22.2	45.3	44.7	47.1	24.5	19.1
United States [¶] Range	61.2 48.7-71.4	59.7 45.7-71.0	64.6 52.4-74.1	32.2 20.2-43.0	34.9 21.8-61.0	53.2 39.5-64.8	53.8 38.6-66.9	51.9 39.9-62.6	26.2 15.9-37.8	30.3 18.0-56.8

*A mammogram within the past year. + Both a mammogram and clinical breast exam within the past year. + Women 40 and older who reported that they did not have a personal doctor or health care provider. § Women aged 40 to 64 who reported that they did not have any kind of health care coverage, including health insurance, prepaid plans such as HMOs, or government plans such as Medicare. ¶See Statistical Notes for definition.

Data source: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Public Use Data Tape 2006, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2007.

American Cancer Society, Surveillance Research, 2009

with a medical care team experienced with the technique. Sentinel lymph node biopsy is now widely available in the US.

Surgery and radiation therapy involving the axillary nodes can lead to lymphedema, a serious swelling of the arm caused by retention of lymph fluid. Sentinel lymph node biopsy is associated with lower rates of lymphedema, which was one of the motivations for the development of this technique.133, 135 Most women will not develop this side effect, but many will and others may develop a mild form of lymphedema. Lymphedema can occur soon after surgery or months to years later. Early recognition and management of lymphedema are important to minimize complications related to this incurable condition. In order to prevent lymphedema, women should utilize arm exercises and skin care to take care of the arm and hand on the treated side of the body for the rest of their lives, and if any swelling is experienced, they should see their doctor immediately.

Radiation therapy

Radiation may be used to destroy cancer cells remaining in the breast, chest wall, or underarm area after surgery, or to reduce the size of a tumor before surgery.¹³⁶ There are two types of radiation therapy. External radiation is the usual type of radiation for women with breast cancer. Radiation is focused from a machine outside the body on the area affected by cancer. This usually includes the whole breast and, depending on the size and extent of the cancer, may include the chest wall and underarm area as well. External beam radiation therapy is typically administered over a period of 5 to 7 weeks. Internal radiation therapy, known as brachytherapy, uses a radioactive substance sealed in needles, seeds, wires, or catheters that are placed directly into or near the cancer. Some patients are treated with both internal and external radiation therapies in combination. The way the radiation therapy is given depends on the type, stage, and location of the tumor being treated. The ability to target radiation therapy accurately has increased dramatically in recent decades, which has greatly diminished side effects and can also reduce treatment time. For example, one form of brachytherapy (MammoSite) is given for only 5 days. Researchers are studying a new technique called accelerated partial breast irradiation (APBI), which is designed to give radiation to a smaller segment of the breast also over a period of 5 days.137

Radiation to the breast is almost always recommended after a lumpectomy, and in some circumstances,

following mastectomy. Radiation of the chest wall may be recommended for a woman with positive lymph nodes, a very large tumor, or close or positive pathologic margins, even though her breast has been removed.

Systemic therapy

Systemic therapy uses anti-cancer drugs that are injected into a vein or given by mouth. These drugs travel through the bloodstream to all parts of the body. Systemic therapy includes biologic therapy, chemotherapy, and hormone therapy. Systemic treatment given to patients before surgery is called neoadjuvant therapy. It is often used to shrink the tumor enough to make surgical removal possible or allow for less extensive surgery. This may allow women otherwise needing mastectomy to undergo breast-conserving surgery. Neoadjuvant therapy has been found to be as effective as therapy given after surgery in terms of survival, disease progression, and distant recurrence.¹³⁸

Systemic treatment given to patients after surgery is called adjuvant therapy. After all visible cancer has been surgically removed, it is used to kill any undetected tumor cells that may have migrated to other parts of the body. Tumor size, histology, and the presence of cancer in axillary nodes are considered in the decision whether to use adjuvant systemic therapy.

Systemic therapy is also used in treating women with metastatic breast cancer.¹³⁹ In such conditions, removal of most of the cancer by surgery is not possible, and therefore systemic therapies are the main treatment option.

Biologic therapy

Approximately 15%-30% of breast cancers overproduce the growth-promoting protein HER2/neu. These tumors tend to grow faster and are generally more likely to recur than tumors that do not overproduce HER2. Herceptin (tratuzumab) is a monoclonal antibody that directly targets the HER2 protein of breast tumors and offers a survival benefit for some women with metastatic breast cancer.140-142 More recently, tratuzumab has been shown to be effective in early-stage breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. The combined results of two large trials indicate that adding tratuzumab to standard chemotherapy for early-stage HER2 positive breast cancer reduced the risk of recurrence and death by 52% and 33%, respectively, compared to chemotherapy alone.¹⁴³ In 2006, the FDA approved tratuzumab for all HER2-positive breast cancers. All invasive breast cancers should be tested for the HER2 gene amplification or protein overexpression in order to identify women who

Clinical Trials

A clinical trial is a controlled experiment that is used to assess the safety and efficacy of treatments or other interventions for human disease and health problems. Generally, participants receive either the state-of-the-art standard treatment or a new therapy that may offer improved survival and/or fewer side effects. Participation in clinical trials provides essential information on the effectiveness and risks of a new treatment. Patients can visit the American Cancer Society Clinical Trials Matching Service at cancer.org/clinicaltrials or call the American Cancer Society Clinical Trials Matching Service (1-800-303-5691) to identify clinical trial options. This free and confidential service can help patients, their families, and health care workers locate a cancer clinical trial most appropriate to a patient's medical and personal situation. The Physicians Data Query (PDQ) program of the National Cancer Institute (NCI) contains summaries of cancer clinical trials that are open for patient participation. Patients can obtain PDQ information from their physician, by contacting the NCI Cancer Information Service at 1-800-4-CANCER, or from the NCI Clinical Trials Web page at cancer.gov/clinicaltrials. Patients should consult their personal doctors and cancer specialists for detailed information about appropriate treatment options.

would benefit from this therapy. New guidelines were recently released aimed at improving the accuracy of HER2 testing.¹⁴⁴

Another drug, Lapatinib, has been found to be effective in delaying disease progression in women with HER2positive, advanced breast cancer who have become resistant to tratuzumab. A new generation of anti-HER2 targeted therapies are currently in development.¹⁴⁵

In 2008, the FDA granted approval for the use of bevaxizumab (Avastin) for advanced breast cancer. Bevaxizumab, a monoclonal antibody against circulating vascular endothelial growth factor, slows tumor growth in women whose cancer has metastasized by blocking growth of new vessels that increase blood supply to the tumor. However, bevaxizumab has not been shown to increase survival.

Chemotherapy

The benefit of chemotherapy is dependent on multiple factors including the size of the cancer, the number of lymph nodes involved, the presence of estrogen or progesterone receptors, and the amount of HER2/neu protein made by the cancer cells. Research has established that, in most cases, combinations of drugs are more effective than just one drug alone for breast cancer treatment.¹⁴⁶ Many combinations are being used, and it is not clear that any single combination is the best.¹³⁹ The most common drugs recommended to be used in combination in early breast cancer are cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, fluorouracil, doxorubicin (Adriamycin), epirubicin, paclitaxel (Taxol), and docetaxol (Taxotere). Depending on the combination of drugs that is used, adjuvant chemotherapy is usually given for 3 to 6 months. Chemotherapy is most effective when the full dose and cycle of drugs is completed in a timely manner. These and other chemotherapy drugs may also be

used to shrink cancer that has metastasized (spread to distant organs).

Hormone therapy

Estrogen, a hormone produced by the ovaries, promotes the growth of many breast cancers. Women whose breast cancers test positive for estrogen receptors can be given hormone therapy to block the effects of estrogen on the growth of breast cancer cells. Tamoxifen is effective in both postmenopausal and premenopausal patients whose cancers are positive for hormone receptors. The current recommendation is for 5 years of tamoxifen therapy, which has been shown to provide a 41% reduction in the annual recurrence rate and a 33% reduction in the death rate.¹⁴⁷

A class of drugs known as aromatase inhibitors (AIs) are also used in treating both early and advanced breast cancer. These drugs are letrozole, anastrozole, and exemestane. They work by blocking an enzyme responsible for producing small amounts of estrogen in postmenopausal women. AIs are not an effective treatment in premenopausal women because they cannot stop the ovaries from producing estrogen. Clinical trials have been conducted comparing one of the AIs with tamoxifen for a total of 5 years and adding treatment with an AI following 2 to 6 years of tamoxifen.148-153 In each of these studies, there has been a clear advantage to using either an AI instead of tamoxifen for a total of 5 years or switching to an AI after several years of tamoxifen, rather than keeping postmenopausal women on tamoxifen alone for 5 years. Clinical trials continue to assess which of these strategies is best. AIs have fewer side effects than tamoxifen because they do not cause endometrial cancer and very rarely cause blood clots. They can, however, cause osteoporosis, bone fractures, and other musculoskeletal symptoms because they completely deplete postmenopausal woman of estrogen. Many doctors prefer AIs over tamoxifen as the first hormonal treatment for hormone receptor-positive breast cancer in postmenopausal women.

What research is currently being done on breast cancer?

Risk factors

Many studies are currently under way to help find the causes of breast cancer. One particular study, known as the Sister Study, will follow for at least 10 years 50,000 women who have a biological sister who was diagnosed with breast cancer and will collect information about genes, lifestyle, and environmental factors that may cause breast cancer.¹⁵⁴ Enrollment for the Sister Study was completed on March 31, 2009. An offshoot of this study called the Two Sister Study is also under way and is enrolling 2,000 sisters of Sister Study participants who were diagnosed with breast cancer before age 50. The goal of the Two Sister Study is to investigate the genetic and environmental causes of young-onset breast cancer.¹⁵⁵

The Breast and Prostate Cancer and Hormone-related Gene Variants Cohort Consortium (BPC3 Study), established in 2003, is a collaboration to pool data among six large-scale cohorts.¹⁵⁶ By combining data across studies, the investigators are examining the role of genes and gene-environment interactions in the development of cancer in the large and powerful combined dataset.

Prevention

Aromatase inhibitors have proven more effective than tamoxifen in preventing recurrence in postmenopausal women with early-stage breast cancer and are associated with fewer side effects than tamoxifen.157 Like tamoxifen, AIs are also expected to be effective in preventing estrogen-dependent breast cancers. Two international trials are currently examining the effectiveness of AIs for chemoprevention in high-risk postmenopausal women.158 The British IBIS-II study is comparing anastrozole to placebo for 5 years in 6,000 post-menopausal women who are at increased risk of breast cancer. Results of the study are expected in 2012. The MAP3 study is comparing exemestane to placebo in a similar group of about 4,500 women at increased risk for breast cancer. Results should be available in late 2010. Smaller studies are also being done with letrozole.

Early-phase cancer prevention trials are now under way to test other drugs (e.g., tyrosine kinase inhibitors,

retinoids, and COX2 inhibitors) that may be effective in preventing estrogen-receptor negative breast cancer and to determine if they are safe for use in high-risk women without breast cancer.¹⁵⁹ It is hoped that in the future, drugs will be available for high-risk women that effectively prevent all forms of breast cancer.

Some women who are diagnosed with breast cancer in one breast choose to have the second breast removed. This is known as contralateral prophylactic mastectomy (CPM). Recent studies have shown marked increases in the rate of CPM for women diagnosed with stages I-III breast cancer, as well as DCIS.^{160, 161} Although CPM nearly eliminates the risk of developing a breast cancer in the second breast, there is little evidence that it improves long-term breast cancer survival.¹⁶² Not all women have the same risk for developing a contralateral breast cancer. A recent study suggests that certain characteristics may better predict those women for whom CPM may offer the greatest benefit.¹⁶³

Early detection

Results from a large clinical trial of digital vs. film mammography reported that digital mammography performed significantly better than conventional film mammography for pre- and peri-menopausal women younger than age 50 with dense breasts.¹²⁶ About 20% of US screening clinics now offer digital mammography. Digital tomosynthesis, an extension of digital mammography, is another area of promising screening research. Tomosynthesis consists of multiple digital x-ray images that allow the breast to be viewed as many thin slices and also can be combined into a three-dimensional picture. It may improve detection in women with dense breast tissue and is also hoped to reduce the rate of falsepositives.¹⁶⁴ This technology is still considered experimental and is not yet commercially available.

Women with dense breast tissue have an increased risk of breast cancer; however, recent research indicates that increasing breast density over time may be a more accurate predictor of future breast cancer.¹⁶⁵ Future studies will focus on identifying the best time to measure breast density and how to incorporate this information into risk prediction models.

Among women with newly diagnosed breast cancer, MRI has been shown to be useful in detecting cancer in the contralateral (opposite) breast.¹⁶⁶ Diagnosing the second breast cancer earlier could help women make treatment decisions and might spare them from extra rounds of surgery and chemotherapy later.

Goals for a National Breast Cancer Research Agenda

In 1998, the Breast Cancer Progress Review Group, a collaboration organized by the National Cancer Institute of prominent members of the scientific, medical, advocacy, and industry communities, released its recommendations for a national breast cancer research agenda.¹⁶¹ The report included research goals in biology, etiology, genetics, prevention, detection and diagnosis, treatment, control, and outcomes. Among the goals in these eight areas are:

- To expand knowledge of normal breast development and the earliest breast lesions
- To identify modifiable risk factors, and to investigate the interaction between genes and environment
- To identify genetic mutations that occur at each stage of breast cancer development and progression, and evaluate these changes as targets for intervention
- To identify surrogate endpoint biomarkers to serve as early indicators of intervention effectiveness
- To develop better breast imaging and other technologies for diagnosis of clinically significant disease and better prediction of clinical outcomes
- To encourage development of innovative treatments in academic settings, and to test their effectiveness through better supported, more representative clinical trials
- To gain fuller understanding of mechanisms underlying behavioral change, and identify how psychosocial factors influence disease response and survival
- To better understand the effects of multimodality treatments, and to improve methods to study patient-focused outcomes across the continuum of age and race/ethnicity

Treatment

Gene expression analysis has led to the identification of molecularly defined subtypes of breast cancer that have distinct biological features, clinical outcomes, and responses to chemotherapy. Treatment strategies are now being developed based on an individual's tumor characteristics. A patient's response to chemotherapy is influenced not only by the tumor's genetic characteristics but also by inherited variation in genes that affect a person's ability to absorb, metabolize, and eliminate drugs. This knowledge should aid in the design of more effective and less toxic chemotherapeutic agents.

Postmenopausal breast cancer patients with hormone receptor-positive disease were historically given tamoxifen and are now often treated with an aromatase inhibitor to prevent breast cancer recurrence. Aromatase inhibitors have shown improved survival compared to tamoxifen; however, a new study indicates that the benefit of tamoxifen may vary according to the genotype of the patient.¹⁶⁷

Zoledronic acid (Zometa), a bisphosphanate drug used to treat bone metastases and recently approved to treat osteoporosis, appears to significantly reduce the risk of recurrence in early-stage hormone-receptor positive breast cancer when used in combination with hormonal therapy.¹⁶⁸ Future research will focus on determining which patients will benefit the most from this therapy and optimizing the administration schedule and dose.

As a result of decades of basic molecular biology research, many new drugs are being studied that target the genetic changes that cause cells to become cancerous. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors are one class of these targeted therapies that have demonstrated benefits in patients with advanced disease and may also delay or reverse hormone resistance. Metronomic therapy is a relatively new concept in antiangiogenic therapy (drugs such as bevacizumab that block blood supply to the tumor) that uses much lower and less toxic doses of chemotherapy agents than currently used, in combination with an antiangiogenesis drug.¹⁶⁹ Preclinical studies have shown promising results using metronomic therapy to slow the progression of disease in patients with metastatic breast cancer.^{170, 171}

Another new class of drugs, Poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase (PARP) inhibitors, appears to be particularly effective in cancers with mutations in the breast cancer-associated genes (BRCA1 and BRCA2).¹⁷² PARPs are involved in DNA repair and transcriptional regulation, which are recognized as key regulators of cell survival and cell death. By inhibiting PARP-1, these drugs have been shown to enhance the therapeutic effects of radiation and chemotherapy agents. There are currently at least 5 PARP inhibitors in clinical trial development.

Advances in chemotherapy have had less of an impact on survival for women with ER-positive tumors compared to those with lymph node-positive, ER-negative tumors (although ER-positive patients who receive adjuvant hormonal therapy still have better disease-free survival and overall survival than ER-negative patients). Research is under way to identify which women with ER-positive disease truly benefit from the addition of chemotherapy to hormonal therapy. This research includes a clinical trial initiated in May 2006 known as TAILORx that uses information on the expression of 21 genes in breast tumor tissue (using a tool called Oncotype DX) to assign women to treatment groups based on their predicted likelihood of recurrence.¹⁷³

Quality of life

Breast cancer treatment can result in a variety of shortand long-term side effects that affect quality of life, including psychological distress, hormonal symptoms, and fatigue. In fact, fatigue may persist for up to 10 years in one-third of women treated for breast cancer.¹⁷⁴ Physical activity has been shown to alleviate some of the side effects associated with breast cancer and its treatment, such as fatigue, depression, and anxiety.¹⁷⁵ Results of a recent study show that meeting recommended physical activity levels was associated with better quality of life in non-Hispanic white and African American breast cancer survivors.¹⁷⁶ In addition, it has recently been suggested that moderate-intensity physical activity may affect breast cancer prognosis by reducing the risk of mortality by 64%.¹⁷⁷

What resources are available in your community?

The American Cancer Society offers several resource programs for breast cancer patients and their families to guide them through every step of the cancer experience so they can focus on getting well. Help and information is also available around the clock by calling the American Cancer Society at 1-800-227-2345 or visiting cancer.org.

Reach to Recovery®

Breast cancer survivors provide one-on-one support and information to help individuals cope with breast cancer. Specially trained survivors serve as volunteers, responding by phone or in person to the concerns of people facing a breast cancer diagnosis, treatment, recurrence, or recovery.

I Can Cope®

Adult cancer patients and their loved ones learn ways to navigate the cancer experience while building their knowledge, coping skills, and positive attitude. In this series of educational classes, doctors and other health care professionals provide information, encouragement, and practical tips in a supportive environment.

Look Good...Feel Better®

Through this free service, women in active cancer treatment learn techniques to restore their self-image and cope with appearance-related side effects. Certified beauty professionals provide tips on makeup, skin care, nail care, and head coverings. This program is a collaboration of the American Cancer Society with the Cosmetic, Toiletry, and Fragrance Association and the National Cosmetology Association.

"tlc" – Tender Loving Care®

A magazine and catalog in one, "tlc" supports women dealing with hair loss and other physical side effects of cancer treatment. The "magalog" offers a wide variety of affordable products, such as wigs, hats, and prostheses, through the privacy and convenience of mail order.

Hope Lodge®

Hope Lodge is a home-like environment providing free, temporary accommodations for cancer patients undergoing treatment and their family members. It makes the cancer treatment process a little easier by providing a supportive environment and lifting the financial burden of an extended stay.

Cancer Survivors Network^{s™}

Created by and for cancer survivors, the Cancer Survivors Network (CSN) is a unique, Web-based support service designed not only for survivors, but for anyone dealing personally with cancer. Read discussions and stories, find and connect with others like yourself, and much more.

American Cancer Society Web Site and National Cancer Information Center

For comprehensive cancer information and for more information about the programs listed above, call the American Cancer Society toll free at 1-800-227-2345 (available 24 hours a day) or visit the American Cancer Society Web site at cancer.org.

Other sources of patient information and support include:

Encore Plus Program of the YWCA Office of Women's Health Initiatives

A program that targets medically underserved women in need of early detection education, breast and cervical cancer screening, and support services. It provides women in treatment and recovering from breast cancer with a unique combined peer group support and exercise program. Call 1-888-953-9922 to find a program in your area.

National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program

Telephone: 1-800-CDC-INFO or 1-800-232-4636 cdc.gov/cancer/nbccedp/

This Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) program helps low-income women gain access to timely, high-quality screening programs for the detection of breast and cervical cancer.

National Breast Cancer Coalition

Telephone: 1-800-622-2838 natlbcc.org

A grassroots advocacy movement dedicated to the eradication of breast cancer through research, access, and influence

National Cancer Institute (NCI) Cancer Information Service

Telephone: 1-800-4-CANCER or 1-800-422-6237 cancer.gov

A nationwide telephone service that provides general cancer information for cancer patients and their families and friends, the public, and health care professionals

Sisters Network

Telephone: 1-866-781-1808 sistersnetworkinc.org

A national African American breast cancer survivors support group committed to increasing local and national attention to the devastating impact that breast cancer has in the African American community

Susan G. Komen for the Cure

Telephone: 1-877-GO-KOMEN or 1-877-465-6636 komen.org

A national volunteer organization working to eradicate breast cancer by advancing research, education, screening, and treatment. The helpline is answered by trained volunteers who provide information to callers with breast health or breast cancer concerns.

YourShoes 24/7 Breast Cancer Support Center

Telephone: 1-800-221-2141 (English), 1-800-986-9505 (Spanish) networkofstrength.org

A 24-hour hotline staffed by trained peer counselors who are breast cancer survivors. YourShoes provides information on breast cancer and breast health to anyone touched by or concerned about this disease.

What is the American Cancer Society doing about breast cancer?

The American Cancer Society is saving lives from breast cancer by helping people stay well by taking steps to reduce the risk of breast cancer or detect it early, when it is most treatable; helping people get well by guiding them through every step of the cancer experience; by funding and conducting groundbreaking research to discover breast cancer's causes and effective ways to treat and help cure it; and by fighting back by working with legislators to pass laws that defeat cancer and rallying communities to join the fight.

Since 1971, the American Cancer Society has awarded approximately \$388.4 million in breast cancer research grants. As of January 19, 2009, through its extramural research grants program, the American Cancer Society funds 218 extramural research projects relating to breast cancer, totaling \$117.1 million.

Specific examples of ongoing breast cancer research being conducted by Society grantees include:

- Examining reasons for breast cancer treatment differences between African American and white women, including differences in delays in starting treatment, less-frequent treatment, and choice of mastectomy over lumpectomy in African American women. Findings will help inform strategies to minimize racial differences in the treatment of breast cancer.
- Exploring new therapies for the treatment of breast cancer targeting cells of the immune system. Recent

clinical and experimental evidence suggests a causal link between inflammation and breast cancer development and progression. This study will evaluate whether the immune system plays a role in inflammatory responses that promote cancer progression. Results will provide insight necessary to develop and evaluate new therapeutic approaches and define which patients might most benefit.

- Identifying and cataloging ribonucleic acids (RNAs) that are characteristic of normal and breast cancer tissues, with the goal of generating an "RNA finger-print" of breast cancer. Recent research has established that there are thousands of RNAs that do not encode proteins but which are fundamentally important for the survival and development of cells. Sets of these RNAs will be tested to determine their use in predicting breast cancer disease progression. Researchers believe these RNA fingerprints may prove useful in detecting breast cancer at an early stage and allow for more effective treatments.
- Evaluating factors that influence mammography interpretation by radiologists, developing a test set that identifies radiologists that could benefit from additional training, and creating a continuing medical education course that reduces recall rates while maintaining or improving cancer detection. This project, co-funded with the National Cancer Institute, was designed in direct response to the Institute of Medicine's report "Improving Breast Imaging Quality Standards," which highlighted the need to decrease variability in mammography interpretation in the US and identified issues stalling the reauthorization of the Mammography Quality Standards Act.

The Society also internally conducts epidemiologic studies of breast cancer and performs surveillance research to monitor long-term trends and statistics. Using information collected from more than 600,000 women in the Cancer Prevention Study II, American Cancer Society epidemiologists study the influence of many risk factors including alcohol consumption, diethylstilbestrol (DES), estrogen hormone use, family history of cancer, obesity, smoking, and spontaneous abortion on the risk of death from breast cancer. The American Cancer Society is currently enrolling cancerfree adults in the Cancer Prevention Study-3 (CPS-3). These men and women will be followed for 20 to 30 years to gain a better understanding of the lifestyle, behavioral, environmental, and genetic factors that cause or prevent cancer.

American Cancer Society epidemiologists have also studied the influence of mammography on breast cancer prognostic factors, conducted long-term follow-up of major breast cancer screening studies, and recommended breast cancer surveillance strategies that can be applied at the local and national levels.

In addition, the Society's Behavioral Research Center is currently conducting a study of cancer survivors to examine the determinants of a good quality of life following a breast cancer diagnosis. Specific areas of interest include identifying the unmet needs of cancer survivors and their caregivers, the use of complementary therapies, and the needs of minority women with breast cancer.

The surveillance group has recently reported the widening of breast cancer mortality between white and African American women, the lack of/lower reduction in breast cancer death rates in less-educated women and in women residing in southern states, disparities in the receipt of sentinel lymph node biopsy in women with early-stage breast cancer, and the greater likelihood for patients without health insurance or with Medicaid coverage to present with advanced stage breast cancer.

Collaborative relationships and partnerships are established to achieve goals greater than could be achieved individually. The American Cancer Society devotes significant resources to the education of the public and health care professionals. An educational partnership with the African Methodist Episcopal Church, the National Hispanic Medical Association, and Conrad & Associates resulted in the production of the short film and guidebook Taking Charge of Breast Cancer: A Guide for African American Women. Similarly, a collaboration with the National Hispanic Medical Association, the League of United Latin American Citizens, and Conrad & Associates yielded a short film and guidebook that included information on breast cancer early detection and treatment options specifically targeting Hispanic underserved women. In 2008, the Society was awarded a CDC grant to revise and expand the Circle of LifeSM initiative aimed at reaching out to and partnering with American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) communities. With an emphasis on reaching the medically underserved, Circle of Life enables the Society to work with and through AIAN community-based groups to address the needs of patients, caregivers, and families across the cancer continuum. Since 1995, the American Cancer Society has joined with the Longaberger Company in the Horizon of Hope[®] campaign, which provides information to millions of women attending home shows about the importance of breast cancer early detection and the resources available through the American Cancer Society. Funds generated through this relationship support breast cancer research and education projects in areas that include improving access to high-quality mammography screening and meeting the psychosocial needs of women with breast cancer.

The American Cancer Society and its nonprofit, nonpartisan advocacy affiliate, the American Cancer Society Cancer Action NetworkSM (ACS CAN), are involved in advocacy efforts at both the federal and state levels that seek to increase access to quality breast cancer screenings, diagnostic services and treatment, and care for all women; increase government funding for breast cancer research; and be a voice for the concerns of breast cancer patients and survivors. Below are some of the efforts that the American Cancer Society and ACS CAN have been involved with in the past few years to fight back against breast cancer – and all cancers:

 Improving Access to Prevention and Early Detection Services, Meaningful Health Insurance, and Quality of Life: In 2006, the American Cancer Society launched a nationwide initiative to improve access to quality health care. The Society recognized that the current health care system is fragmented and faces many complex challenges, so signature areas in which the Society and ACS CAN could achieve the greatest impact were defined and geared to align with patients' needs: prevention and early detection, meaningful health insurance, and quality of life throughout life. ACS CAN's legislative efforts have focused on health care reform to improve our nation's health system. The American Cancer Society and ACS CAN have elevated the health care reform debate at the national level through the "cancer lens."

- Expanding the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP): The American Cancer Society and ACS CAN continue to successfully lobby for millions of dollars at the state and federal levels to support this program that provides low-income, uninsured, and underinsured women access to breast and cervical cancer screening tests and follow-up services.
- **Protecting the Breast and Cervical Cancer Prevention and Treatment Act:** This act ensures that lowincome women diagnosed with cancer through the NBCCEDP are eligible for Medicaid coverage for their treatment. ACS CAN continues to advocate at the state level to protect Medicaid dollars so that there is sufficient funding for treatment of these women.
- Funding the Patient Navigator Program: ACS CAN continues the fight for more funding for the Patient Navigator Program, which Congress passed with bipartisan support to place trained "navigators" in health facilities to help medically underserved populations get the quality care they need. Navigators improve mammography compliance rates and follow-up and decrease the average length of time between initial breast exams and biopsies to a rate comparable to patients in private care.
- Eliminating Medicare Co-pays for Breast Cancer Screening Services: Legislation is proposed to eliminate Medicare co-pays for mammography, which will help remove the financial barrier to these critical services, allowing more beneficiaries to receive these lifesaving screenings.
- Funding for Cancer Research: The American Cancer Society and ACS CAN continue to work to increase government funding for cancer research at the National Institutes of Health, including the National Cancer Institute and the National Center on Minority Health and Health Disparities.

Sources of statistics

General information. The statistics and statements in this booklet, unless otherwise stated, refer to invasive (not in situ) breast cancer.

New cancer cases. The estimated numbers of new US cancer cases are projected using a spatiotemporal model based on incidence data from 41 states and the District of Columbia for the years 1995-2005 that met the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries' (NAACCR) high-quality data standard for incidence, which covers about 85% of the US population. This method considers geographic variations in socio-demographic and lifestyle factors, medical settings, and cancer screening behaviors as predictors of incidence, as well as accounting for expected delays in case reporting. For more information about the method, see Pickle L, Hao Y, Jemal A, et al. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2007;57:30-42.

Incidence rates. Incidence rates are defined as the number of people per 100,000 who develop disease during a given time period. When referenced as such, US SEER incidence rates were previously made available on SEER's Web site (seer.cancer.gov) and within the SEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975-2006.³ When not referenced otherwise, US SEER incidence rates are based on American Cancer Society analysis of the SEER Public Use Dataset, 1973-2006, November 2008 submission, using SEER*Stat 6.5.1, a statistical software package from the National Cancer Institute.¹⁷⁸ Note that because of delays in reporting newly diagnosed cancer cases to the cancer registries, cancer incidence rates for the most recent diagnosis years may be underestimated. Incidence rates adjusted for delays in reporting are used when available and are referenced as such. State incidence rates were previously published in *Cancer in* North America, 2002-2006, a publication of the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries (NAACCR).⁴ These rates were calculated using data on cancer cases collected by the SEER program and National Program of Cancer Registries programs and population data collected by the US Bureau of the Census. Except for the age-specific incidence rates described in Figure 1 (page 2), all incidence rates in this publication are age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. When not referenced otherwise, annual percent changes in the incidence rate were estimated based on American Cancer Society analysis of the SEER

Public Use Dataset, 1975-2006, November 2008 submission, using SEER*Stat 6.5.1.¹⁷⁹

Cancer deaths. The estimated number of US breast cancer deaths in 2009 is calculated by fitting the numbers of cancer deaths from 1969 through 2006 to a statistical forecasting model. Data on the number of deaths are obtained from the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. For more information about the method, see Tiwari, et al. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2004;54:30-40.

Mortality rates. Similar to incidence rates, mortality rates are defined as the number of people per 100,000 who die from a disease during a given time period. Death rates used in this publication were previously made available by SEER on their Web site (seer.cancer. gov) and within the *SEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975-2006.*³ Death rates were calculated using data on cancer deaths compiled by NCHS and population data collected by the US Bureau of the Census. All death rates in this publication were age-adjusted to the 2000 US standard population.

Survival rates. Five-year survival statistics are based on cancer patients diagnosed between 1999-2005, 10-year survival rates are based on diagnoses between 1995-2005, and 15-year survival rates are based on diagnoses between 1989-2005. All patients were followed through 2006. Relative survival rates are used to adjust for normal life expectancy (and events such as death from heart disease, accidents, and diseases of old age). Relative survival is calculated by dividing the percentage of observed 5-year survival for cancer patients by the 5-year survival expected for people in the general population who are similar to the patient group with respect to age, sex, race, and calendar year of observation. Relative survival rates are not calculated for Hispanics/Latinos, Asian Americans/Pacific Islanders, and American Indians/Alaska Natives because reliable estimates of normal life expectancy are not available for these groups. Therefore, cause-specific survival rates are presented. Cause-specific survival rates are the probability of not dying of breast cancer within 5 years after diagnosis. Cause-specific survival does not account for stage and age at diagnosis. When referenced as such, 5-year survival statistics were originally published in SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2006.3



Probability of developing cancer. Probabilities of developing breast cancer were calculated using DevCan (Probability of Developing Cancer Software) developed by the National Cancer Institute.¹⁷⁸ These probabilities reflect the average experience of women in the US and do not take into account individual behaviors and risk factors (e.g., utilization of mammography screening and family history of breast cancer).

Prevalence of mammography. The prevalence of mammography by age and state was obtained through analysis of data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS).¹²⁷ The BRFSS is an ongoing system of surveys conducted by the state health departments in cooperation with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The prevalence of mammography by race/ethnicity is from the National Health Interview Survey.¹⁸⁰

Factors that influence cancer rates

Age adjustment to the year 2000 standard. Epidemiologists use a statistical method called "age adjustment" to compare groups of people with different age compositions. This is especially important when examining cancer rates, since cancer is generally a disease of older people. For example, without adjusting for age, it would be inaccurate to compare the cancer rates of Florida, which has a large elderly population, to that of Alaska, which has a younger population. Without adjusting for age, it would appear that the cancer rates in Florida are much higher than Alaska. However, once the adjustment is made for age, it appears their rates are similar.

Change in population estimates. Cancer rates are also affected by changes in population estimates, which are the basis for calculating rates for new cancer cases and deaths. The Census Bureau updates and revises population estimates every year. The Bureau calculates "intercensal" estimates after a new census is completed - for example, using information from both the 1990 and 2000 censuses, the Bureau obtains better estimates for the 1990s. These revisions are based on the most recent census information and on the best available demographic data reflecting components of population change (e.g., births, deaths, net internal migration, and net international immigration). Thus, it is customary to recalculate cancer rates based on the revised population estimates. In less populated areas, such as rural counties, or in adjacent urban and suburban areas where there is substantial migration of residents from a more populous urban area to a less populous suburban one between censuses, a change in the population estimates can affect the county rate by as much as 20%. This is in contrast to large counties, where a small change in a large population estimate will not affect rates nearly as much.

References

1. *AJCC Cancer Staging Manual.* 6th ed. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2002.

2. Young JL Jr, Roffers SD, Ries LAG, Fritz AG, Hurlbut A, eds. *SEER Summary Staging Manual - 2001: Codes and Coding Instructions*. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2001. NIH Pub. No. 01-4969.

3. Horner MJ, Ries LAG, Krapcho M, et al., eds. *SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2006.* National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2006/, based on November 2008 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, 2009.

4. Copeland G, Lake A, Firth R, et al., eds. *Cancer in North America*, 2002-2006. *Volume One: Combined Cancer Incidence for the United States and Canada*. Springfield, IL: North American Association of Central Cancer Registries, Inc.; 2009.

5. Garfinkel L, Boring CC, Heath CW, Jr. Changing trends. An overview of breast cancer incidence and mortality. *Cancer*. Jul 1 1994;74(1 Suppl):222-227.

6. Wei F, Miglioretti DL, Connelly MT, et al. Changes in women's use of hormones after the Women's Health Initiative estrogen and progestin trial by race, education, and income. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr.* 2005(35):106-112.

7. Jemal A, Ward E, Thun MJ. Recent trends in breast cancer incidence rates by age and tumor characteristics among U.S. women. *Breast Cancer Res.* May 3 2007;9(3):R28.

8. Breen N, Cronin K, Meissner HI, et al. Reported drop in mammography: is this cause for concern? *Cancer*. May 14 2007.

9. Ravdin PM, Cronin KA, Howlader N, et al. The decrease in breast cancer incidence in 2003 in the United States. *N Engl J Med.* Apr 19 2007;356(16):1670-1674.

10. Chlebowski RT, Kuller LH, Prentice RL, et al. Breast cancer after use of estrogen plus progestin in postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med. Feb 5 2009;360(6):573-587.

11. Ryerson AB, Miller JW, Eheman CR, Leadbetter S, White MC. Recent trends in U.S. mammography use from 2000-2006: a population-based analysis. *Prev Med.* Nov 2008;47(5):477-482.

12. Miller JW, King JB, Ryerson AB, Eheman CR, White MC. Mammography use from 2000 to 2006: state-level trends with corresponding breast cancer incidence rates. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. Feb 2009;192(2):352-360.

13. Parkin DM. Is the recent fall in incidence of post-menopausal breast cancer in UK related to changes in use of hormone replacement therapy? *Eur J Cancer*. Jun 2009;45(9):1649-1653.

14. Hemminki E, Kyyronen P, Pukkala E. Postmenopausal hormone drugs and breast and colon cancer: Nordic countries 1995-2005. *Maturitas*. Dec 20 2008;61(4):299-304.

15. Canfell K, Banks E, Moa AM, Beral V. Decrease in breast cancer incidence following a rapid fall in use of hormone replacement therapy in Australia. *Med J Aust.* Jun 2 2008;188(11):641-644.

16. Hausauer AK, Keegan TH, Chang ET, Clarke CA. Recent breast cancer trends among Asian/Pacific Islander, Hispanic, and African-American women in the US: changes by tumor subtype. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2007;9(6):R90.

17. Li CI, Daling JR, Malone KE. Age-specific incidence rates of in situ breast carcinomas by histologic type, 1980 to 2001. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Apr 2005;14(4):1008-1011. 18. Berry DA, Cronin KA, Plevritis SK, et al. Effect of screening and adjuvant therapy on mortality from breast cancer. *N Engl J Med*. Oct 27 2005;353(17):1784-1792.

19. Goodman MT, Tung KH, Wilkens LR. Comparative epidemiology of breast cancer among men and women in the US, 1996 to 2000. *Cancer Causes Control*. Mar 2006;17(2):127-136.

20. Giordano SH, Cohen DS, Buzdar AU, Perkins G, Hortobagyi GN. Breast carcinoma in men: a population-based study. *Cancer*. Jul 1 2004;101(1):51-57.

21. Weiss JR, Moysich KB, Swede H. Epidemiology of male breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 2005;14(1):20-26.

22. Brinton LA, Richesson DA, Gierach GL, et al. Prospective evaluation of risk factors for male breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 15 2008;100(20):1477-1481.

23. Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Yothers G, et al. Adjuvant therapy for very young women with breast cancer: need for tailored treatments. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr.* 2001(30):44-51.

24. Anders CK, Hsu DS, Broadwater G, et al. Young age at diagnosis correlates with worse prognosis and defines a subset of breast cancers with shared patterns of gene expression. *J Clin Oncol.* Jul 10 2008;26(20):3324-3330.

25. Halpern MT, Bian J, Ward EM, Schrag NM, Chen AY. Insurance status and stage of cancer at diagnosis among women with breast cancer. *Cancer*. Jun 11 2007.

26. Singh GK, Miller BA, Hankey BF, Edwards BK. Area socioeconomic variation in US cancer incidence, mortality, stage, treatment, and survival 1975-1999. NCI Cancer Surveillance Monograph Series, Number 4. Bethesda, MD, National Cancer Institute, 2003. NIH Publication No. 03-5417.

27. Curtis E, Quale C, Haggstrom D, Smith-Bindman R. Racial and ethnic differences in breast cancer survival: how much is explained by screening, tumor severity, biology, treatment, comorbidities, and demographics? *Cancer.* Jan 1 2008;112(1):171-180.

28. Baquet CR, Mishra SI, Commiskey P, Ellison GL, DeShields M. Breast cancer epidemiology in blacks and whites: disparities in incidence, mortality, survival rates and histology. *J Natl Med Assoc*. May 2008;100(5):480-488.

29. Newman LA, Griffith KA, Jatoi I, Simon MS, Crowe JP, Colditz GA. Meta-analysis of survival in African American and white American patients with breast cancer: ethnicity compared with socioeconomic status. *J Clin Oncol*. Mar 20 2006;24(9):1342-1349.

30. Tammemagi CM, Nerenz D, Neslund-Dudas C, Feldkamp C, Nathanson D. Comorbidity and survival disparities among black and white patients with breast cancer. *JAMA*. Oct 12 2005;294(14):1765-1772.

31. Joslyn SA. Racial differences in treatment and survival from early-stage breast carcinoma. *Cancer*. Oct 15 2002;95(8):1759-1766.

32. Smedley B, Stith A, Nelson A, eds. *Unequal treatment: confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care, Committee on Understanding and Eliminating Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care.* Institute of Medicine, Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2002.

33. Carey LA, Perou CM, Livasy CA, et al. Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. *JAMA*. Jun 7 2006;295(21):2492-2502.

34. Morris SR, Carey LA. Molecular profiling in breast cancer. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. Sep 8 2007;8(3):185-198.

35. Mirick DK, Davis S, Thomas DB. Antiperspirant use and the risk of breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst*. Oct 16 2002;94(20):1578-1580.

36. Lipworth L, Tarone RE, Friis S, et al. Cancer among Scandinavian women with cosmetic breast implants: a pooled long-term follow-up study. *Int J Cancer*. Jan 15 2009;124(2):490-493.

37. Brinton LA, Lubin JH, Burich MC, Colton T, Brown SL, Hoover RN. Breast cancer following augmentation mammoplasty (United States). *Cancer Causes Control*. Oct 2000;11(9):819-827.

38. Couzin J. Cancer risk. Review rules out abortion-cancer link. *Science*. Mar 7 2003;299(5612):1498.

39. Michels KB, Xue F, Colditz GA, Willett WC. Induced and spontaneous abortion and incidence of breast cancer among young women: a prospective cohort study. *Arch Intern Med.* Apr 23 2007;167(8):814-820.

40. Calle EE, Frumkin H, Henley SJ, Savitz DA, Thun MJ. Organochlorine and breast cancer risk. *CA Cancer J Clin.* September/October 2002;52(5):301-309.

41. Raaschou-Nielsen O, Pavuk M, LeBlanc A, et al. Adipose organochlorine concentrations and risk of breast cancer among postmenopausal danish women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* January 1, 2005 2005;14(1):67-74.

42. Brody JG, Moysich KB, Humblet O, Attfield KR, Beehler GP, Rudel RA. Environmental pollutants and breast cancer. *Cancer*. June 15 2007;109(S12):2667-2711.

43. Steenland K, Whelan E, Deddens J, Stayner L, Ward E. Ethylene oxide and breast cancer incidence in a cohort study of 7576 women (United States). *Cancer Causes Control*. Aug 2003;14(6):531-539.

44. Megdal SP, Kroenke CH, Laden F, Pukkala E, Schernhammer ES. Night work and breast cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cancer*. Sep 2005;41(13):2023-2032.

45. Straif K, Baan R, Grosse Y, et al. Carcinogenicity of shift-work, painting, and fire-fighting. *Lancet Oncol.* Dec 2007;8(12):1065-1066.

46. IARC. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Volume 98. Shift-work, painting and fire-fighting. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2007.

47. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Familial breast cancer: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 52 epidemiological studies including 58,209 women with breast cancer and 101,986 women without the disease. *Lancet*. Oct 27 2001;358(9291):1389-1399.

48. National Cancer Institute. Genetics of Breast and Ovarian Cancer (PDQ). Available at: http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/genetics/breast-and-ovarian/healthprofessional. Last updated 05/14/2009.

49. Ford D, Easton DF, Stratton M, et al. Genetic heterogeneity and penetrance analysis of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in breast cancer families. The Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium. *Am J Hum Genet*. Mar 1998;62(3):676-689.

50. Chen S, and Parmigiani G. Meta-analysis of BRCA1 and BRCA2 penetrance. *J Clin Oncol.* 2007;25: 1329-33.

51. Saslow D, Boetes C, Burke W, Harms S, Leach MO, Lehman CD, Morris E, Pisano E, Schnall M, Sener S, Smith RA. Warner E, Yaffe M, Andrews KS, and Russell CA. American Cancer Society guidelines for breast screening with MRI as an adjunct to mammography. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2007;57: 75-89.

52. Lichtenstein P, Holm NV, Verkasalo PK, et al. Environmental and heritable factors in the causation of cancer--analyses of cohorts of twins from Sweden, Denmark, and Finland. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 13 2000;343(2):78-85.

53. American Society of Clinical Oncology policy statement update: genetic testing for cancer susceptibility. *J Clin Oncol.* Jun 15 2003;21(12):2397-2406.

54. Genetic risk assessment and BRCA mutation testing for breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility: recommendation statement. *Ann Intern Med.* Sep 6 2005;143(5):355-361.

55. Hulka BS, Moorman PG. Breast cancer: hormones and other risk factors. *Maturitas*. Feb 28 2001;38(1):103-113; discussion 113-106.

56. Lambe M, Hsieh C, Trichopoulos D, Ekbom A, Pavia M, and Adami HO. Transient increase in the risk of breast cancer after giving birth. *N Engl J Med.* 1994;331:5-9.

57. Albrektsen G, Heuch I, Hansen S, and Kvale G. Breast cancer risk by age at birth, time since birth and time intervals between births: exploring interaction effects. *Br J Cancer*. 2005;92:167-75.

58. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Breast cancer and breastfeeding: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 47 epidemiological studies in 30 countries, including 50302 women with breast cancer and 96973 women without the disease. *Lancet*. Jul 20 2002;360(9328):187-195.

59. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Breast cancer and hormonal contraceptives: collaborative reanalysis of individual data on 53,297 women with breast cancer and 100,239 women without breast cancer from 54 epidemiological studies. *Lancet.* Jun 22 1996;347(9017):1713-1727.

60. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Breast cancer and hormone replacement therapy: collaborative reanalysis of data from 51 epidemiological studies of 52,705 women with breast cancer and 108,411 women without breast cancer. *Lancet*. Oct 11 1997;350(9084):1047-1059.

61. Heiss G, Wallace R, Anderson GL, et al. Health risks and benefits 3 years after stopping randomized treatment with estrogen and progestin. *JAMA*. Mar 5 2008;299(9):1036-1045.

62. Calle EE, Feigelson HS, Hildebrand JS, Teras LR, Thun MJ, Rodriguez C. Postmenopausal hormone use and breast cancer associations differ by hormone regimen and histologic subtype. *Cancer.* Jan 20 2009;115(5):936-945.

63. Beral V. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. *Lancet.* Aug 9 2003;362(9382):419-427.

64. Stefanick L, Anderson GL, Margolis KL, et al. Effects of conjugated equine estrogens on breast cancer and mammography screening in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy. *JAMA*. Apr 12 2006;295(14):1647-1657.

65. Zhang SM, Manson JE, Rexrode KM, Cook NR, Buring JE, Lee IM. Use of oral conjugated estrogen alone and risk of breast cancer. *Am J Epidemiol*. Mar 1 2007;165(5):524-529.

66. Vacek PM, Geller BM. A prospective study of breast cancer risk using routine mammographic breast density measurements. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* May 2004;13(5):715-722.

67. Barlow WE, White E, Ballard-Barbash R, et al. Prospective breast cancer risk prediction model for women undergoing screeningmammography.*JNatlCancerInst*.Sep62006;98(17):1204-1214.

68. Boyd NF, Guo H, Martin LJ, et al. Mammographic density and the risk and detection of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Jan 18 2007;356(3):227-236.

69. Chen Z, Arendell L, Aickin M, Cauley J, Lewis CE, Chlebowski R. Hip bone density predicts breast cancer risk independently of Gail score: results from the Women's Health Initiative. *Cancer*. Sep 1 2008;113(5):907-915.

70. Cauley JA, Lucas FL, Kuller LH, Vogt MT, Browner WS, Cummings SR. Bone mineral density and risk of breast cancer in older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. *JAMA*. Nov 6 1996;276(17):1404-1408.

71. London SJ, Connolly JL, Schnitt SJ, Colditz GA. A prospective study of benign breast disease and the risk of breast cancer. *JAMA*. Feb 19 1992;267(7):941-944.

72. Hartmann LC, Sellers TA, Frost MH, et al. Benign breast disease and the risk of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 21 2005;353(3):229-237.

73. Collins LC, Baer HJ, Tamimi RM, Connolly JL, Colditz GA, Schnitt SJ. Magnitude and laterality of breast cancer risk according to histologic type of atypical hyperplasia: results from the Nurses' Health Study. *Cancer.* Jan 15 2007;109(2):180-187.

74. Worsham MJ, Raju U, Lu M, et al. Risk factors for breast cancer from benign breast disease in a diverse population. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. Oct 4 2008.

75. American Cancer Society. *Cancer Facts & Figures 2009.* Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2009.

76. Schottenfeld D, Beebe-Dimmer J. Multiple Primary Cancers. In: Schottenfeld D, Fraumeni JF, Jr., eds. *Cancer Prevention and Early Detection Third Edition*. New York: Oxford University Press; 2006:1269-1280.

77. Daly M, Costalas J. Breast Cancer. In: Neugut AI, Meadows AT, Robinson E, eds. *Multiple Primary Cancers*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 1999:303-318.

78. Land CE, Tokunaga M, Koyama K, et al. Incidence of female breast cancer among atomic bomb survivors, Hiroshima and Nagasaki, 1950-1990. *Radiat Res.* Dec 2003;160(6):707-717.

79. Ma H, Hill CK, Bernstein L, Ursin G. Low-dose medical radiation exposure and breast cancer risk in women under age 50 years overall and by estrogen and progesterone receptor status: results from a case-control and a case-case comparison. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* May 2008;109(1):77-90.

80. Russo J, Hu YF, Yang X, Russo IH. Developmental, cellular, and molecular basis of human breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr.* 2000(27):17-37.

81. Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, et al. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. Jul 17 2002;288(3):321-333.

82. Kushi LH, Byers T, Doyle C, et al. American Cancer Society Guidelines on Nutrition and Physical Activity for cancer prevention: reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity. *CA Cancer J Clin.* Sep-Oct 2006;56(5):254-281; quiz 313-254.

83. Cummings SR, Tice JA, Bauer S, et al. Prevention of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: approaches to estimating and reducing risk. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Mar 18 2009;101(6):384-398.

84. International Agency for Cancer Research (IARC). *IARC Handbook of Cancer Prevention. Volume 6: Weight control and physical activity.* Lyon: IARC Press; 2002.

85. Eliassen AH, Colditz GA, Rosner B, Willett WC, Hankinson SE. Adult weight change and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer. *JAMA*. Jul 12 2006;296(2):193-201.

86. Morimoto LM, White E, Chen Z, et al. Obesity, body size, and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer: the Women's Health Initiative (United States). *Cancer Causes Control.* Oct 2002;13(8):741-751.

87. Feigelson HS, Jonas CR, Teras LR, Thun MJ, Calle EE. Weight gain, body mass index, hormone replacement therapy, and postmenopausal breast cancer in a large prospective study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Feb 2004;13(2):220-224.

88. Kerlikowske K, Walker R, Miglioretti DL, Desai A, Ballard-Barbash R, Buist DS. Obesity, mammography use and accuracy, and advanced breast cancer risk. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Dec 3 2008;100(23):1724-1733.

89. McTiernan A, Kooperberg C, White E, et al. Recreational physical activity and the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: the Women's Health Initiative Cohort Study. *JAMA*. Sep 10 2003;290(10):1331-1336.

90. Lahmann PH, Friedenreich C, Schuit AJ, et al. Physical activity and breast cancer risk: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 2007;16(1):36-42.

91. Friedenreich CM, Cust AE. Physical activity and breast cancer risk: impact of timing, type and dose of activity and population subgroup effects. *Br J Sports Med.* Aug 2008;42(8):636-647.

92. Maruti SS, Willett WC, Feskanich D, Rosner B, Colditz GA. A prospective study of age-specific physical activity and premenopausal breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* May 21 2008;100(10):728-737.

93. Peters TM, Schatzkin A, Gierach GL, et al. Physical activity and postmenopausal breast cancer risk in the NIH-AARP diet and health study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 2009;18(1):289-296.

94. Neilson HK, Friedenreich CM, Brockton NT, Millikan RC. Physical activity and postmenopausal breast cancer: proposed biologic mechanisms and areas for future research. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 2009;18(1):11-27.

95. Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, et al. Carcinogenicity of alcoholic beverages. *Lancet Oncol.* Apr 2007;8(4):292-293.

96. Singletary KW, Gapstur SM. Alcohol and breast cancer: review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence and potential mechanisms. *JAMA*. Nov 7 2001;286(17):2143-2151.

97. Allen NE, Beral V, Casabonne D, et al. Moderate alcohol intake and cancer incidence in women. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Mar 4 2009;101(5):296-305.

98. Lew JQ, Freedman ND, Leitzmann MF, et al. Alcohol and risk of breast cancer by histologic type and hormone receptor status in postmenopausal women: The NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* Aug 1 2009;170(3):308-17.

99. Hamajima N, Hirose K, Tajima K, et al. Alcohol, tobacco and breast cancer--collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 58,515 women with breast cancer and 95,067 women without the disease. *Br J Cancer*. Nov 18 2002;87(11):1234-1245.

100. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. *Tobacco smoke and involuntary smoking*. Lyon: IARC Press;2004.

101. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA). *Appendix III. Proposed identification of environmental tobacco smoke as a toxic air contaminant.* Sacramento, CA: California Environmental Protection Agency; June 24 2005.

102. Miller MD, Marty MA, Broadwin R, et al. The association between exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and breast cancer: a review by the California Environmental Protection Agency. *Prev Med.* Feb 2007;44(2):93-106.

103. US Department of Health and Human Services. *The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke: A Report of the Surgeon General.* Washinton, DC: Department of Health and Human Services;2006.

104. Anderson GL, Chlebowski RT, Rossouw JE, et al. Prior hormone therapy and breast cancer risk in the Women's Health Initiative randomized trial of estrogen plus progestin. *Maturitas*. Sep 20 2006;55(2):103-115.

105. US Preventive Services Task Force. Postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy for primary prevention of chronic conditions: recommendations and rationale. *Ann Intern Med.* Nov 19 2002;137(10):834-839.

106. Visvanathan K, Chlebowski RT, Hurley P, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Update on the Use of Pharmacologic Interventions Including Tamoxifen, Raloxifene, and Aromatase Inhibition for Breast Cancer Risk Reduction. *J Clin Oncol.* May 26 2009.

107. Fisher B, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, et al. Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Sep 16 1998;90(18):1371-1388.

108. Cuzick J, Forbes JF, Sestak I, et al. Long-term results of tamoxifen prophylaxis for breast cancer--96-month follow-up of the randomized IBIS-I trial. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Feb 21 2007;99(4):272-282.

109. Cummings SR, Eckert S, Krueger KA, et al. The effect of raloxifene on risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: results from the MORE randomized trial. Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation. *JAMA*. Jun 16 1999;281(23):2189-2197.

110. Vogel VG, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, et al. Effects of tamoxifen vs raloxifene on the risk of developing invasive breast cancer and other disease outcomes: the NSABP Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR) P-2 trial. *JAMA*. Jun 21 2006;295(23):2727-2741.

111. Grady D, Cauley JA, Geiger MJ, et al. Reduced incidence of invasive breast cancer with raloxifene among women at increased coronary risk. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Jun 18 2008;100(12):854-861.

112. Freedman AN, Graubard BI, Rao SR, McCaskill-Stevens W, Ballard-Barbash R, Gail MH. Estimates of the number of US women who could benefit from tamoxifen for breast cancer chemoprevention. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Apr 2 2003;95(7):526-532.

113. Hartmann LC, Schaid DJ, Woods JE, et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in women with a family history of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Jan 14 1999;340(2):77-84.

114. Hartmann LC, Sellers TA, Schaid DJ, et al. Efficacy of bilateral prophylactic mastectomy in BRCA1 and BRCA2 gene mutation carriers. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Nov 7 2001;93(21):1633-1637.

115. Rebbeck TR, Friebel T, Lynch HT, et al. Bilateral Prophylactic Mastectomy Reduces Breast Cancer Risk in BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers: The PROSE Study Group. *J Clin Oncol*. March 15, 2004 2004;22(6):1055-1062.

116. Rebbeck TR, Lynch HT, Neuhausen SL, et al. Prophylactic oophorectomy in carriers of BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations. *N Engl J Med.* May 23 2002;346(21):1616-1622.

117. Kauff ND, Satagopan JM, Robson ME, et al. Risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. *N Engl J Med.* May 23 2002;346(21):1609-1615.

118. Tabar L, Yen MF, Vitak B, Tony Chen HH, Smith RA, Duffy SW. Mammography service screening and mortality in breast cancer patients: 20-year follow-up before and after introduction of screening. *Lancet*. Apr 26 2003;361(9367):1405-1410.

119. Humphrey LL, Helfand M, Chan BK, Woolf SH. Breast cancer screening: a summary of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Ann Intern Med.* Sep 3 2002;137(5 Part 1):347-360.

120. Duffy SW, Tabar L, Chen HH, et al. The impact of organized mammography service screening on breast carcinoma mortality in seven Swedish counties. *Cancer*. Aug 1 2002;95(3):458-469.

121. Kerlikowske K, Barclay J. Outcomes of modern screening mammography. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 1997(22):105-111.

122. Michaelson J, Satija S, Moore R, et al. The pattern of breast cancer screening utilization and its consequences. *Cancer*. Jan 1 2002;94(1):37-43.

123. Michaelson JS, Silverstein M, Wyatt J, et al. Predicting the survival of patients with breast carcinoma using tumor size. *Cancer*. Aug 15 2002;95(4):713-723.

124. Taplin SH, Ichikawa L, Yood MU, et al. Reason for late-stage breast cancer: absence of screening or detection, or breakdown in follow-up? *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Oct 20 2004;96(20):1518-1527.

125. Pisano ED, Hendrick RE, Yaffe MJ, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of digital versus film mammography: exploratory analysis of selected population subgroups in DMIST. *Radiology*. 2008;246(2):376-83.

126. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Public Use Data 2006, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2007.

127. Harper S, Lynch J, Meersman SC, Breen N, Davis WW, and Reichman MC. Trends in area-socioeconomic and raceethnic disparities in breast cancer incidence, stage at diagnosis, screening, mortality, and survival among women ages 50 years and over (1987-2005). *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2009;18: 121-31.

128. Swan J, Breen N, Coates RJ, Rimer BK, Lee NC. Progress in cancer screening practices in the United States: results from the 2000 National Health Interview Survey. *Cancer.* Mar 15 2003;97(6):1528-1540.

129. Division of Cancer Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program - 2008/2009. http://www.cdc. gov/cancer/NBCCEDP/bccpdfs/0809_nbccedp_fs.pdf. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Mar 2009.

130. Veronesi U, Cascinelli N, Mariani L, et al. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized study comparing breast-conserving surgery with radical mastectomy for early breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Oct 17 2002;347(16):1227-1232.

131. Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J, et al. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Oct 17 2002;347(16):1233-1241.

132. Jani AB, Basu A, Heimann R, Hellman S. Sentinel lymph node versus axillary lymph node dissection for early-stage breast carcinoma: a comparison using a utility-adjusted number needed to treat analysis. *Cancer.* Jan 15 2003;97(2):359-366.

133. Veronesi U, Paganelli G, Viale G, et al. A randomized comparison of sentinel-node biopsy with routine axillary dissection in breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Aug 7 2003;349(6):546-553.

134. Lyman GH, Giuliano AE, Somerfield MR, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology guideline recommendations for sentinel lymph node biopsy in early-stage breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol*. Oct 20 2005;23(30):7703-7720.

135. McLaughlin SA, Wright MJ, Morris KT, et al. Prevalence of lymphedema in women with breast cancer 5 years after sentinel lymph node biopsy or axillary dissection: objective measurements. *J Clin Oncol.* Nov 10 2008;26(32):5213-5219.

136. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Favourable and unfavourable effects on long-term survival of radiotherapy for early breast cancer: an overview of the randomised trials. *Lancet*. May 20 2000;355(9217):1757-1770.

137. Dirbas FM. Accelerated partial breast irradiation: Where do we stand? *J Natl Compr Canc Netw.* Feb 2009;7(2):215-225.

138. Mauri D, Pavlidis N, Ioannidis JP. Neoadjuvant versus adjuvant systemic treatment in breast cancer: a meta-analysis. *J* Natl Cancer Inst. Feb 2 2005;97(3):188-194.

139. Mauri D, Polyzos NP, Salanti G, Pavlidis N, Ioannidis JP. Multiple-treatments meta-analysis of chemotherapy and targeted therapies in advanced breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* Dec 17 2008;100(24):1780-1791.

140. Cobleigh MA, Vogel CL, Tripathy D, et al. Multinational study of the efficacy and safety of humanized anti-HER2 monoclonal antibody in women who have HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer that has progressed after chemotherapy for metastatic disease. *J Clin Oncol.* Sep 1999;17(9):2639-2648.

141. Vogel CL, Cobleigh MA, Tripathy D, et al. Efficacy and safety of trastuzumab as a single agent in first-line treatment of HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* Feb 1 2002;20(3):719-726.

142. Slamon DJ, Leyland-Jones B, Shak S, et al. Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. *N Engl J Med.* Mar 15 2001;344(11):783-792.

143. Romond EH, Perez EA, Bryant J, et al. Trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable HER2-positive breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Oct 20 2005;353(16):1673-1684.

144. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Schwartz JN, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* Jan 1 2007;131(1):18.

145. Bedard PL, de Azambuja E, Cardoso F. Beyond trastuzumab: overcoming resistance to targeted HER-2 therapy in breast cancer. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. Mar 2009;9(2):148-162.

146. Hortobagyi GN. Treatment of breast cancer. N Engl J Med. Oct 1 1998;339(14):974-984.

147. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. *Lancet*. May 14-20 2005;365(9472):1687-1717.

148. Coombes RC, Hall E, Gibson LJ, et al. A randomized trial of exemestane after two to three years of tamoxifen therapy in postmenopausal women with primary breast cancer. *NEnglJMed*. Mar 11 2004;350(11):1081-1092.

149. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Martino S, et al. A randomized trial of letrozole in postmenopausal women after five years of tamoxifen therapy for early-stage breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Nov 6 2003;349(19):1793-1802.

150. Howell A, Cuzick J, Baum M, et al. Results of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination) trial after completion of 5 years' adjuvant treatment for breast cancer. *Lancet.* Jan 1 2005;365(9453):60-62.

151. Thurlimann B, Keshaviah A, Coates AS, et al. A comparison of letrozole and tamoxifen in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Dec 29 2005;353(26):2747-2757.

152. Coates AS, Keshaviah A, Thurlimann B, et al. Five years of letrozole compared with tamoxifen as initial adjuvant therapy for postmenopausal women with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer: update of study BIG 1-98. *J Clin Oncol*. Feb 10 2007;25(5):486-492.

153. Buzdar AU, Baum M, Cuzick J. Letrozole or tamoxifen in early breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Apr 6 2006;354(14):1528-1530; author reply 1528-1530.

154. The Sister Study: A study of the environmental and genetic risk factors for breast cancer. (Web site). 2009; http://www.sisterstudy.org/English/index1.htm. Accessed April 21, 2009.

155. The Two Sister Study: A study of the environmental and genetic risk factors for young-onset breast cancer. (Web site). 2009; http://www.sisterstudy.org/2Sisters_English/2Sisters.htm. Accessed April 21, 2009.

156. National Cancer Institute. Breast and Prostate Cancer and Hormone-Related Gene Variants Cohort Consortium (Web Site). 2008; http://epi.grants.cancer.gov/BPC3/. Accessed February 18, 2009.

157. Kudachadkar R, O'Regan RM. Aromatase inhibitors as adjuvant therapy for postmenopausal patients with early stage breast cancer. *CA Cancer J Clin.* May-Jun 2005;55(3):145-163.

158. O'Regan RM. Chemoprevention of breast cancer. *Lancet*. Apr 29 2006;367(9520):1382-1383.

159. Li Y, Brown PH. Prevention of ER-negative breast cancer. *Recent Results Cancer Res.* 2009;181:121-134.

160. Tuttle TM, Habermann EB, Grund EH, Morris TJ, Virnig BA. Increasing use of contralateral prophylactic mastectomy for breast cancer patients: a trend toward more aggressive surgical treatment. *J Clin Oncol*. Nov 20 2007;25(33):5203-5209.

161. Tuttle TM, Jarosek S, Habermann EB, et al. Increasing rates of contralateral prophylactic mastectomy among patients with ductal carcinoma in situ. *J Clin Oncol.* Feb 17 2009.

162. Recht A. Contralateral prophylactic mastectomy: caveat emptor. *J Clin Oncol.* Feb 17 2009.

163. Yi M, Meric-Bernstam F, Middleton LP, et al. Predictors of contralateral breast cancer in patients with unilateral breast cancer undergoing contralateral prophylactic mastectomy. *Cancer.* Jan 26 2009;115(5):962-971.

164. Mitka M. New screening methods offer hope for more accurate breast cancer detection. *JAMA*. Jan 30 2008;299(4):397-398.

165. Kerlikowske K, Ichikawa L, Miglioretti DL, et al. Longitudinal measurement of clinical mammographic breast density to improve estimation of breast cancer risk. *J Natl Cancer Inst*. Mar 7 2007;99(5):386-395.

166. Lehman CD, Gatsonis C, Kuhl CK, et al. MRI evaluation of the contralateral breast in women with recently diagnosed breast cancer. *N Engl J Med*. Mar 29 2007;356(13):1295-1303.

167. Punglia RS, Burstein HJ, Winer EP, Weeks JC. Pharmacogenomic variation of CYP2D6 and the choice of optimal adjuvant endocrine therapy for postmenopausal breast cancer: a modeling analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* May 7 2008;100(9):642-648.

168. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Schippinger W, et al. Endocrine therapy plus zoledronic acid in premenopausal breast cancer. *N Engl J Med.* Feb 12 2009;360(7):679-691.

169. Hanahan D, Bergers G, Bergsland E. Less is more, regularly: metronomic dosing of cytotoxic drugs can target tumor angiogenesis in mice. *J Clin Invest*. Apr 2000;105(8):1045-1047.

170. Colleoni M, Orlando L, Sanna G, et al. Metronomic lowdose oral cyclophosphamide and methotrexate plus or minus thalidomide in metastatic breast cancer: antitumor activity and biological effects. *Ann Oncol.* Feb 2006;17(2):232-238.

171. Dellapasqua S, Bertolini F, Bagnardi V, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide and capecitabine combined with bevacizumab in advanced breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol*. Oct 20 2008;26(30):4899-4905.

172. Fong PC, Boss D, Yap T, et al. Inhibition of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase in tumors from *BRCA* mutation carriers. *N Engl J Med*. July 9 2009;361(2):1-12.

173. Zujewski JA, Kamin L. Trial assessing individualized options for treatment for breast cancer: the TAILORx trial. *Future Oncol.* Oct 2008;4(5):603-610.

174. Bower JE, Ganz PA, Desmond KA, et al. Fatigue in long-term breast carcinoma survivors: a longitudinal investigation. *Cancer*. Feb 15 2006;106(4):751-758.

175. Galvao DA, Newton RU. Review of exercise intervention studies in cancer patients. *J Clin Oncol.* Feb 1 2005;23(4):899-909.

176. Smith AW, Alfano CM, Reeve BB, et al. Race/ethnicity, physical activity, and quality of life in breast cancer survivors. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Feb 2009;18(2):656-663.

177. Irwin ML, Smith AW, McTiernan A, et al. Influence of preand postdiagnosis physical activity on mortality in breast cancer survivors: the health, eating, activity, and lifestyle study. *J Clin Oncol.* Aug 20 2008;26(24):3958-3964.

178. DevCan: Probability of Developing or Dying of Cancer Software, Version 6.4.0; Statistical Research and Applications Branch, National Cancer Institute, 2009. http://srab.cancer.gov/ devcan.

179. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program (www.seer.cancer.gov) SEER*Stat Database: Incidence - SEER 9 Regs Limited-Use, Nov 2008 Sub (1973-2006) - Linked To County Attributes - Total U.S., 1969-2006 Counties, National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance Research Program, Cancer Statistics Branch, released April 2009, based on the November 2008 submission.

180. National Health Interview Survey Public Use Data File 2005, National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006.

Chartered Divisions of the American Cancer Society, Inc.

California Division, Inc.

1710 Webster Street Oakland, CA 94612 (510) 893-7900 (O) (510) 835-8656 (F)

Eastern Division, Inc. (NJ, NY)

6725 Lyons Street East Syracuse, NY 13057 (315) 437-7025 (O) (315) 437-0540 (F)

Florida Division, Inc. (including Puerto Rico operations)

3709 West Jetton Avenue Tampa, FL 33629-5146 (813) 253-0541 (O) (813) 254-5857 (F)

Puerto Rico

Calle Alverio #577 Esquina Sargento Medina Hato Rey, PR 00918 (787) 764-2295 (O) (787) 764-0553 (F)

Great Lakes Division, Inc. (MI, IN)

1755 Abbey Road East Lansing, MI 48823-1907 (517) 332-2222 (O) (517) 664-1498 (F)

Great West Division, Inc. (AK, AZ, CO, ID, MT, ND, NM, NV, OR, UT, WA, WY) 2120 First Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109-1140 (206) 283-1152 (O) (206) 285-3469 (F)

High Plains Division, Inc. (including Hawaii operations, KS, MO, NE, OK, TX) 2433 Ridgepoint Drive Austin, TX 78754 (512) 919-1800 (O)

(512) 919-1800 (O) (512) 919-1844 (F)

Hawaii Pacific Division, Inc.

2370 Nuuana Avenue Honolulu, HI 96817 (808) 595-7500 (O) (808) 595-7502 (F)

Illinois Division, Inc.

225 N. Michigan Avenue Suite 1200 Chicago, IL 60601 (312) 641-6150 (O) (312) 641-3533 (F)

Mid-South Division, Inc.

(AL, AR, KY, LA, MS, TN) 1100 Ireland Way Suite 300 Birmingham, AL 35205-7014 (205) 930-8860 (O) (205) 930-8877 (F)

Midwest Division, Inc. (IA, MN, SD, WI) 8364 Hickman Road Suite D Des Moines, IA 50325 (515) 253-0147 (O) (515) 253-0806 (F)

New England Division, Inc.

(CT, ME, MA, NH, RI, VT) 30 Speen Street Framingham, MA 01701-9376 (508) 270-4600 (O) (508) 270-4699 (F)

Ohio Division, Inc.

5555 Frantz Road Dublin, OH 43017 (614) 889-9565 (O) (614) 889-6578 (F)

Pennsylvania Division, Inc.

Route 422 and Sipe Avenue Hershey, PA 17033-0897 (717) 533-6144 (O) (717) 534-1075 (F)

South Atlantic Division, Inc. (DE, GA, MD, NC, SC, VA,

Washington, D.C., WV) 250 Williams Street

Atlanta, GA 30303 (404) 816-7800 (O) (404) 816-9443 (F)



We **save lives** and create more birthdays by helping you stay well, helping you get well, by finding cures, and by fighting back.

cancer.org | 1.800.227.2345